## Practical aspects of scientific and technological research programming:

### Case studies from the USSR

Oleg I. Larichev and Alexey B. Petrovsky

Institute for Systems Studies, USSR Academy of Sciences, Moscow

UNESCO

Science policy studies and documents 72

; ,

### ISBN 92 -3-102759-X

Published in 1991 by the United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization 7, place de Fontenoy, 75700 Paris, France

Printed by Presses Universitaires de France, Vendôme

© UNESCO 1991 Printed in France

### Preface

The UNESCO series "Science policy studies and documents" forms part of a programme to collect, analyse and disseminate information concerning the organization of scientific research and science policies in Member States, authorized by resolution 2.1131(b) adopted by the General Conference of UNESCO at its eleventh session in 1960 and confirmed by similar resolutions at each subsequent session.

This series aims at making available to those responsible for scientific research and experimental development throughout the world, factual information concerning the science policies of various Member States of the Organization, as well as normative studies of a general character.

<u>Country studies</u> are carried out by the governmental authorities responsible for science policy in the Member States concerned. The selection of the countries in which studies on the national science policy are undertaken reflects the following criteria: the originality of the methods used in the planning and execution of the national science policy, the extent of the practical experience acquired in such fields and the level of economic and social development attained. The geographical coverage of these studies is also taken into account.

<u>Normative studies</u> deal with the planning of science policy, the organization and administration of scientific and technological research and other questions relating to science policy.

The series also includes reports of international meetings on science policy convened by UNESCO.

As a general rule, the country studies are published in one language only, either English or French, whereas the normative studies are published in both languages: reports of international meetings are usually published in the main language(s) used in the region.

The present publication describes some methodological approaches to R&D programming and presents case studies conducted in the USSR. It complements the study entitled *Méthodes de programmation applicables à l'orientation et à la gestion de la R&D nationale* ("Programming methods applicable to the guidance and management of national R&D") published as no. 68 in the same series.

The author is responsible for the choice and the presentation of the facts contained in this book and for the opinions expressed therein, which are not necessarily those of UNESCO and do not commit the Organization.

## Contents

Introduc	tion	9
Part I	Methodological problems of scientific and technological research programming	11
1.1	Classification of R&D planning and management problems	11
1.2	Classification of methodological approaches	12
1.3	Forecasting and analysis of development trends, and validation of the master goal	12
1.4	Transition from final goals to the means of their accomplishment	13
1.5	Evaluation of goals and the means of their accomplishment	14
1.6	Comparison and selection of alternative ways	16
1.7	Analysis of programme-planning methods	17
Part II	USSR case studies	21
2.1	Forecasting applied research and development	21
2.2	Forecasting and programme planning of medical research	23
2.3	Long-range programme planning of astronomical research	25
2.4	Elaboration of an interdisciplinary programme: "Surface"	27
2.5	Assessment of research and experimental development requests	29
2.6	Programme planning of applied research and experimental development with regard to resource constraints	30
Annex 1: The ZAPROS method		33
Annex 2	Annex 2: The CLASS method	
Bibliogra	Bibliography	

## Introduction

Scientific and technological research activities have always been in the foreground of economic and social life of all industrially developed countries. The scale of the currently conducted research and development (R&D) objectively requires efforts to improve planning activities for securing greater resource payback. One of the means for accomplishing this goal are scientific and technological research programmes. A great number of managers experts and researchers are closely engaged in the elaboration of such R&D programmes.

The concept of R&D programme, its relations with a forecast, a plan and a budget differ considerably in various countries. We shall discuss first of all some methodological problems of R&D programme elaboration. Then, practical applications of forecasting and programming methods in various R&D areas in the Soviet Union will be considered.

### Part I

## Methodological problems of scientific and technological research programming

## 1.1 Classification of R&D planning and management problems

The area concerned with R&D planning and management is very large at present and any classification of the problems in this area is bound to have some shortcomings. Nevertheless, consideration of at least some of the concepts and classifications is required.

R&D has been traditionally classified into fundamental research, applied research and development. Fundamental research is generally defined as research pursuing the solution of problems posed by the very nature of science, conducted with a view to extending human knowledge and understanding the laws of nature without penetrating the field of their concrete utilization. Applied research solves specific practical problems associated with the needs of material production. Experimental development is understood to be an innovative and systematic application of scientific knowledge in the manufacture of materials, mechanisms, systems or methods.

As far as R&D planning and management problems are concerned, the identified classes differ substantially. The formulation of planning goals essentially depends on the opportunity to more or less reliably define the expected R&D outcome. As regards fundamental research, planning implies a considerable degree of uncertainty and risk in the context of expected results. Indeed, many outcomes of fundamental research become clear only after their completion. On the contrary, the expected results of experimental development are generally determined with a great degree of accuracy and credibility. Applied research is, somewhere in-between - the results are defined but with less credibility.

The goals and expected results of fundamental research depend very much on the research staff - their skills, creative capabilities and research background. The researchers' capacities considerably influence the accomplishment of goals. As far as experimental development is concerned, the research personnel hardly influences the attainable goals: one and the same project can be assigned to different groups. As regards applied research, it is in-between the two.

Applied research and development lead time very much depends on the available material resources. As for fundamental research, the allocated resources increase the probability of accomplishing the expected results, but this relationship is not always very close.

Another classification important for the present discussion is that of R&D planning problems with respect to time. They may be classified into forecasting (the elaboration of forecasts), programming (the elaboration of programmes), planning (the elaboration of plans) and resource allocation (budgeting). As applied to fundamental research, forecasting and planning are rather uncertain, hence they are feasible only for a comparatively small time horizon. With respect to experimental development, however, the horizon may be far away.

Elaboration of programmes and plans make sense only for those branches of fundamental research to which considerable resources are allocated. Scientific and technological research programmes are typically drawn up in the field of applied research and experimental development.

Yet another classification may be referred to as being the level of management. The first level is that of research organization management. The second one is management of a cluster of research, design and industrial organizations of a branch of the national economy. The third level is a combination of such organizations from different branches of the national economy. The fourth level exists in the case where organizations represent different countries, international laboratories, joint ventures, etc. In line with the above classification, one is safe in saying that "technological programmes" are developed at 2-4 levels of management: for a number of countries, for one country (region, several industries), and for an individual branch of the national economy.

## 1.2 Classification of methodological approaches

There is a great variety of methodological approaches to the consideration of R&D activities. Successful application of one or other R&D programming method and the validity of recommendations derived therefrom depend on how well they match specifics of the research activities to be considered or the problem to be solved.

R&D forecasting and programme planning at the national and sectorial levels share the following common characteristics: comparative evaluation of alternative decisions are difficult to make; presence of a set of non homogeneous factors to be taken into consideration; non-recurring choice situations making it impossible to act "by analogy", and inadequate certainty of the decision implications.

In the course of R&D forecasting and programme planning, many characteristics of the considered problem or object under study can be described with objective data (factual, statistical, planning, reporting, recording, etc.) and objective models which represent the basic attributes of the problem or object in quantitative terms. The available methods of processing the quantitative input information allow one to expose regularities and interrelationships of different factors, and estimate the trends in indicator variation.

The objective information does not suffice, however, for R&D forecasting and planning. The presence of uncertainty complicates the search for a unique, objectively the best (optimal) decision, and necessitates consideration of the decision-maker's (or a group thereof) preferences, i.e. subjective information. Another source of subjective information are skilled experts possessing profound knowledge. Reliability of expert information must be secured by special procedures for its elicitation and by adequate processing methods to deal with the specifics of the considered problem.

A methodological basis for R&D forecasting and programme planning is provided by the systems approach which regulates the basic logical steps of the problem investigation procedure:

- differentiation of the system under study from external environment;
- problem definition and its quantitative and/or qualitative description;
- defining possible methods of solving the problem;
- development of alternative problem solutions;
- comparison of alternative options and choice of the best one.

This general scheme is specified in quite different ways by operations research, systems analysis, and decision techniques, aimed at developing rational approaches to, and procedures of problem study.

Operations research focuses on the quantitative description of the considered problem and/or object (well structured, as a rule) and the construction of a model, and on quantitative methods of finding the best solution.

Systems analysis deals with ill-structured problems, and the major emphasis is placed on the analysis of goals, transition from goals to means, and the quantitative or qualitative evaluation of the goal accomplishment alternatives.

Decision-making furthermore examines ill-structured or non-structured problems. The major purpose is the alternative evaluation and comparison with a view to: determining the best solution alternative; ranking the alternatives; and classifying the considered alternatives into several decision groups.

In R&D forecasting and programme planning wide use is made of the aforementioned approaches. Let us consider the most widespread techniques within the context of the systems approach.

# 1.3 Forecasting and analysis of development trends, and validation of the master goal

Analysis of the present state and future development of a system or object under study is an opening step of problem solving referred to as an exploratory stage of forecasting. The analysis focuses on trends in the evolution of the system, and identifies possible relationships between the trends and changes in the external environments. The purpose of the analysis is to provide a basis for the more valid definition of the final (master) goal or a set of system development goals. Hence, the major requirements to exploratory forecasting are the systematization of trends and a sufficiently detailed description thereof. The following problem solving techniques are noteworthy in this respect:

- extrapolation of trends;
- development of scenarios;
- the "Delphi" technique.

*Extrapolation of trends* is one of the most widespread forecasting methods, involving the analysis of "time-variation" dynamics of identified variables (time series). Use is made of both rather simple methods of linear extrapolation and complex extrapolation techniques with the application of econometric models. The principal shortcoming of extrapolation techniques is their low reliability for distant forecast horizons, associated with the impossibility of accounting for qualitative changes in the projected system and forecast background.

The scenario method is used for describing the logical sequence of events which projects the future state of the original situation. Along with writing a scenario, one may consider different aspects of the problem, identify critical events and branching points, giving rise to alternative development options, and focus on the key aspects to be scrutinized in more detail. Scenarios provide an opportunity for drawing a systematic picture of a probable future state. One of the shortcomings of the scenario method is a subjective choice of development hypothesis inaccurately reflecting the "reality" which may lead to an erroneous or distorted "picture of the future".

The "Delphi" technique boils down to identifying a collective expert opinion concerning the development trends of the system and/or problem under study. The experts are usually interviewed with questionnaires. The answers are given in the form of quantitative characteristics. Interviews are carried out in several steps, each one followed by a statistical processing of data and specification of questions. The experts are informed of the results at each step, and requested to substantiate their opinion, and to specify their estimates with regard to reasoning of their associates. As a result, the expert estimates become less scattered, and a consensus of opinion is developed.

Thus the "Delphi" technique makes it possible to harmonize professionals' opinions on a wide range of issues. However, the practical application of the method is rather difficult. First, the quality of the final result is considerably affected by the list of questions and clarity of definitions which largely depends on the experience and skills of the organizers of the "Delphi" survey. It is not ruled out at all that experts may be influenced by the questionnaires. Second, there is a certain "mixture" of heterogeneous opinions held by experts of different skills. Third, the opinion of the majority is not always a guarantee of truth, and the discarded judgements of the "dissident" experts may well be more correct. Fourth, the available procedures of expert grouping and statistical assessment of expert estimates processing are inadequately substantiated.

The master goal or a set of system goals is a result of political choice based on the exploratory forecast. This procedure is rather poor judged from the methodological point of view. Very often, a master goal is formulated in the most general form, almost as a slogan or motto. The poor specification of the master goal prevents the decision-maker from controlling the validity of the transition to subgoals of lower levels, and from consciously developing R&D policy alternatives.

Very often, there are several equal goals at the upper decision-making levels. Under these circumstances, an artificial choice of one of them, or formulation of a hypothetical goal of a higher level may lead to a substitution of the actual decision-maker's preferences by a formal construct imposed by the selected methods.

Taking into account the basic tasks of the exploratory forecast and the uncertain character of the events under study, one may conclude that most acceptable for the analysis of development trends are qualitative techniques, while quantitative approaches must play a supportive, auxiliary role.

Effectiveness of the analysis and validity of the master goals selection considerably increase if the decision-

maker directly participates in formulating a "frame" for the forecast, defining requirements as to its content and form of presentation, and choosing the most significant goal-attainment evaluation criteria.

The major methodological tasks of trends analysis and master goal selection are as follows:

- it is necessary to clearly define the structural frame of the forecast and the range of questions it covers;
- there is the need for logical analysis, making it possible to structure the procedures of defining the master goal or a set of goals at the upper decision-making levels; and
- the decision-maker and experts must closely interact in formulating a forecast and compiling an exhaustive list of master goals.

## 1.4 Transition from final goals to the means of their accomplishment

The means of goal accomplishment are determined at the second stage. There are two basic types of problem concerned with transition from final goals to subgoals and means of their achievement: defining a set of means securing attainment of the earlier assigned goals ("downward" transition), and defining a set of goals that can be accomplished with the specified means ("upward transition").

Transition from goals to means of their accomplishment involves definition of hierarchy levels, sets of components at each level, and relations between them. The most widespread are the following methods binding together goals and means:

- construction of relevance trees;
- hierarchical structuring;
- matrix techniques;
- morphological analysis.

Relevance trees gained wide acceptance in constructing logical sequences of transition from a master goal to lower-level subgoals. The major tasks, evolving herewith, are associated with determining the number of tree apexes and levels, and evaluation criteria. There are no clearly defined principles for selecting the number of a tree levels and attributing an element to a certain level. This is usually done on the basis of general statements or the available classifications of system components. For each subgoal of the given hierarchical level they develop a maximum set of possible components of the next level providing for the achievement of the considered subgoal.

Very often, relevance tree construction is followed by a quantitative assessment of its components by methods described below (assignment of weights, relative significance coefficients, ranking, etc.). As a rule, evaluation criteria are also weighted. The absence of explicit criteria of relevance tree construction leads to a situation in which a variety of "equivalent" relevance trees may be built for an assigned master goal. Besides, completeness of the list of components of each level is not guaranteed and, naturally, some important relationships between the levels may drop out from consideration.

*Hierarchical structuring techniques* are used for defining sets of interrelated subsets of objects (connecting graphs) making it possible to exercise a consistent "logical" transition from goals to means of their accomplishment. The relations between the adjacent levels of a hierarchical structure, different from a tree, are determined by the logic of the considered system (fields of science, resource planning, allocation systems, etc.) to which the given technique is applied.

In order to distinguish hierarchical levels and refer the components to each level, it may become necessary to formulate criteria reflecting the policy of the planning body. As applied to various techniques of hierarchical structuring, the relations between the components of different levels may be quantitative (contribution coefficients) or qualitative. Ignorance of the general principles of components differentiation at each level may lead to distortions in the logic of structure formation, and to conflict between the assigned and actually accomplished goal. It should also be kept in mind that small changes at the upper levels of hierarchical structure or relevance tree may entail considerable changes at the lower levels.

Matrix methods ("goals-means" matrices, influence matrices, decision matrices, etc.) are used for evaluating the significance of different means in accomplishing a set of goals or an individual goal. First, the entire variety of factors, determining the achievement of goals, are divided into rather uniform groups. Then they measure the impact the group components exert on one another and on the accomplishment of final goals by ranking or weighting the components within each group. The contribution and interdependence of different ways of accomplishing the goals is determined by operating on the matrices whose elements are the estimates of influence of elements of the i-th group on elements of the j-th group.

The matrix techniques feature the same advantages and shortcomings as the approaches considered above. A large number of components and groups are fraught with additional difficulties associated with the large dimension of matrixes.

Morphological analysis is an ordered method of problem and/or object study with a view to systematic organization of information on all alternative solutions and selection of an acceptable solution. The basic steps of morphological approach are a clear statement of the problem; identification of all factors determining its solution; an ordered analysis of factors and the construction of so-called "morphological box" containing all possible decisions; and evaluation of functional utility of different decisions and choice of the most preferable ones.

One of the advantages of the method is the possibility of its application given a relatively small amount of input information and rather general decision evaluation criteria. The major drawback is associated with the method of building the "content of morphological box" where possible decisions are obtained by multiplying the distinguished factors located in the lines of the "box." Therefore, there can be a considerable number of actually unfeasible decisions. Besides, the method employs an extremely simplified approach to evaluating and comparing alternative decisions.

The methods of developing the means of goal accomplishment make it possible to formulate alternative solutions, analyze the contribution of different factors to the accomplishment of goals, and allocate the available resources. Hierarchical structuring may be recommended as the most preferable approach to building the means of goal achievement and defining the total amount of resources required.

Definition of transition from goals to means of their accomplishment, and evaluation of system or object components are typically carried out by the expert technique. To secure the best substantiation of transition, it is desirable to involve senior managerial personnel of the planning body.

To construct techniques for transition from goals to means of their accomplishment it is required to solve the following methodological problems:

- to have a valid approach to defining the number of hierarchical levels or groups of components;
- to have a method of building sets of components at each level or in a group, and to secure the complete lists of those components;
- to develop criteria for estimation of relationship within levels or groups.

## 1.5 Evaluation of goals and the means of their accomplishment

Relevance trees, hierarchical structures, and matrixes used in R&D forecasting and planning contain a large number of levels or groups of components, a considerable quantity of components in each group, and complex interrelationships of components from different levels and groups. The system is usually so complex that it is practically impossible to present, in analytical form, the dependence between the system components' characteristics and to take account of the cross-impact of numerous factors. The assessment of components of each level and relations between them, which will be behind the comparative analysis of alternative means of goal accomplishment, is therefore an important stage in problemsolving.

Such information is generally provided by skilled professionals — decision-makers or experts. Depending on the number of information sources, one distinguishes between individual and collective assessment techniques. Elicitation of necessary information breaks into two stages:

- compilation of a list of criteria against which components and relations between them are estimated;
- evaluation of components and relations by the available criteria.

It is assumed, while formulating the criteria, that there is an explicit and implicit idea about preference (values, priorities, etc.) of evaluated systems or objects.

A great variety of expert judgement techniques, depending on the nature of the information, and on methods of its elicitation and processing, are classified into:

- quantitative evaluation techniques;
- qualitative evaluation techniques.

In different techniques for quantitative evaluation of alternatives the "general utility" of alternatives considered is prescribed (*a priori* or axiomatically) and the parameters of this utility dependence are either assigned or directly evaluated by the decision-maker. There are the following most popular methods of quantitative evaluation:

- ranking, when each alternative is assigned some number (rank) which indicates the place of the alternative within a set of alternatives;
- weighted sum method where the utility of the j-th alternative is determined by the function

$$U_{i} = \Sigma_{i}C_{i}X_{i}, \Sigma_{i}C_{i} = 1,$$

where  $C_i$  is weight (significance) of the i-th criterion,  $X_{ij}$  is an estimate of the j-th alternative against the i-th criterion;

- multiplicative method when utility is determined by the function

$$U_{i} = \prod_{i} C_{i} F(X_{i}),$$

where  $F(X_{ij})$  is an individual preference function, most often  $F(X_{ij}) = X_{ij}$ , less often  $F(X_{ij}) = \exp\{X_{ij}\}$ , or another function;

- interpolation of utility functions with different types of function where parameters are assigned in advance or defined on the basis of the decision-maker's preferences;
- evaluation of subjective event probabilities on decision or preference trees where utility of the j-th alternative is defined by the formula

$$\mathbf{U}_{\mathbf{j}} = \boldsymbol{\Sigma}_{\mathbf{i}} \mathbf{P}_{\mathbf{i}} \mathbf{X}_{\mathbf{i}\mathbf{j}},$$

where  $P_{\mu}$  is the subjective probability of event  $X_{\mu}$ .

Various approaches are used for determining weights  $C_i$ , for example, direct definition of relative weights (in particular, by "Delphi"-type expert techniques), success-

sive determination of weights (Churchman-Ackoff method, etc.), pairwise comparison of criteria (Terstone method, etc.), on hierarchical ranking of criteria, etc. Subjective probabilities  $P_i$  are evaluated directly or by a lottery method.

On the whole, quantitative assessment of alternatives is an insufficiently correct and valid procedure as it does not take account of the possibility of eliciting reliable information from decision-makers and experts.

The basic idea of qualitative evaluation techniques (against many criteria, as a rule) boils down to utilizing a natural language for expressing decision-makers' preferences, expert judgements, and the determination of alternatives' utility. As a rule, each criterion has its own estimate scale with extended or brief verbal statements of different characteristics of the problem or object under study. Selection of criteria and construction of estimate scales constitute a non-formalizable task whose solution depends on the skills and experience of the systems analyst. At the same time, decomposition of general quality into criteria is not only a method of problem analysis but also an effective tool for obtaining information.

Development of a set of criteria for assessing the components of each hierarchical level, relations of components, and generation of estimates against the available criteria is of special significance as the credibility of this information decisively affects the outcome.

Most R&D forecasting and planning methods use numerical estimates of components of all hierarchical levels ("weights", contribution coefficients, relative significance, etc.). In case a method employs qualitative estimates, they are immediately put in correspondence with numerical scales. Psychological research indicates, however, that numerical evaluation of ill-defined qualitative factors is too complex for people and often leads to unstable and inconsistent estimates.

Multicriteria qualitative assessment of a task or object is most consistent with the nature of R&D forecasting and planning problems. Criteria and scales of their estimates constitute a convenient and customary language of interaction between managers and experts, which makes it possible to represent decision-maker's preferences and to formulate the scientific and technological policy of planning bodies.

The analysis of approaches to evaluating goals and ways is conducive to formulation of the following methodological problems:

- it is necessary to develop correct techniques for information elicitation and processing consistent with the nature of the tasks solved;
- the decision-maker should directly participate in selection of experts and development of criteria and their scales for evaluation of the components at all levels of the hierarchy.

# 1.6 Comparison and selection of alternative ways

In making a comparative analysis of feasible alternatives (sets of ways for accomplishing the goals) and selecting the most preferable option, one has to formulate a decision rule which may have the form of an aggregate estimate of components, criteria of choice, or formal procedures. Auxiliary procedures employed in the alternative comparison and selection techniques are pairwise comparisons and classification.

Pairwise comparisons are a procedure for defining preferability of alternatives in comparing all possible pairs of objects and attributing each pair of alternatives to one of the assigned classes. Comparison of all possible pairs does not guarantee a complete ordering of objects, hence an additional identification is required. Under multiple comparisons, triples, quadruples, n-s of alternatives rather than pairs are subject to a successive comparison.

Classification (grouping, taxonomy) is a procedure of breaking a set of objects into classes (groups). Attributing an object to some class or other is carried out directly or on the basis of decision rules taking account of the object preference. The number of classes may be prescribed in advance, or determined by the properties of analysed alternatives.

In making use of pairwise and multiple comparisons, and of classification procedures one has to take into consideration that there may exist noncomparable alternatives, and "inconsistency" of an expert in presenting his preferences, leading to a distortion of transitivity.

The methods of the best alternative choice (decision techniques) differ in the ways of transition to a general assessment of alternatives' utility. There are the following groups of such methods:

- the axiomatic approach;
- direct assessment methods;
- compensation techniques;
- comparison thresholds techniques;
- mathematical modelling;
- descriptive-normative methods.

The axiomatic approach, based on the utility theory, substantiates the existence of utility function which characterizes the degree of alternative preferability. The form of the utility function is determined by the systems' properties assigned by axioms. There are axioms of "poor order" and transitivity, axioms of independence with respect to utility, axioms excluding anomalies in preferences, and so on. The most frequent use is made of additive and multiplicative utility functions of the form

 $U(X) = \sum_{i} K_{i} U_{i}(X_{i}), \qquad \sum_{i} K_{i} = 1$  or

 $1+KU(X) = \prod_{i} [1+KK_{i}U_{i}(X_{i})], \Sigma_{i}K_{i} \neq 1,$ 

where  $U_i(X_i)$  are utility functions of alternative  $X_i$  against

individual criteria, and K and  $K_i$  are constants (0<K<sub>i</sub><l, K>-I).

Verification of utility function correctness is carried out by eliciting information from decision-makers. It is verification of the axiomatics feasibility that is most difficult in practical application of axiomatic techniques as it requires special training of decision-makers and special procedures for their interrogation. It is worth noting on the whole that axiomatic methods are rather artificial.

In contrast to axiomatic techniques, largely oriented at substantiation of some or other type of utility function, the direct assessment methods postulate the type of alternative general utility without any substantiation. The most widespread direct methods are:

- generation of an aggregate quantitative estimate on the basis of an *a priori* assigned multicriteria utility function (methods of weighted sum of criteria estimates, decision trees, and other methods considered above);
- formulation of a generalized choice criterion "costeffectiveness" criterion, optimality criterion (maximin and minimax pessimism criteria; maximax optimism criterion; pessimism-optimism criterion (Hurwiz criterion); average gain maximum criterion, etc.);
- lexicographic ranking of criteria, when an alternative with the highest estimate by the most important criterion is considered as the best one.

Axiomatic methods and methods of direct assessment usually result in complete ranking of decision alternatives. Note that the task dimension does not matter. Problems of alternative comparative assessment have, as yet, no solution thus far, as applied to dependent criteria.

Compensation techniques are based on a trade-off between the conflicting estimates against a pair of criteria or more. This group of methods comprises:

- balancing (compensation) of alternative estimates against different criteria;
- plotting of points, curves, and indifference surfaces in a criterion space;
- comparison of alternative estimate differences (on the basis of utility function, pairwise comparison, etc.).

Compensation techniques usually result in a quasiorder of a set of decision alternatives. Intransitivity may arise in alternative estimates, requiring special procedures of preference verification.

The comparison threshold techniques (ELECTRA and other methods) exercise pairwise comparison of alternatives making use of binary relations between decision alternatives which determine preferability, equivalency, or noncomparability of alternatives. Under changing conditions (comparability thresholds) the resulting relations of alternative preference change too. In making use of comparability threshold methods, one distinguishes a class of the best decisions containing considerably fewer alternatives than a Pareto set. In applying the methods account should be taken of the fact that the types of binary relations and their sequence considerably predetermine the choice.

Mathematical modelling is a method of searching for effective solutions of problems partially formalized on the basis of an objective model; the model variables and relations thereof are defined. The task is to find the best criteria ratio attainable on the given model. As a rule, such problems are formulated as multiattribute mathematical programming problems (linear programming, vector optimization, task-oriented programming, etc.).

There are many man-machine procedures for their solution, where the decision-maker specifies the characteristic features of the problem, identifies and specifies his/her preferences, supplies additional information until he/she accomplishes an acceptable solution. With respect to the type of man-machine interaction, the procedures are classified into three groups:

- direct procedures when the decision-maker exercises
   a direct search for a preferable solution (SIGMOP procedure);
- vector evaluation procedures when the decisionmaker evaluates the utility of alternative solutions in the form of vectors in a criteria space (Dyer-Gioffrion, Savir, Zionts-Wallenius procedures, etc.);
- procedures of search for satisfactory criteria values when the decision-maker performs the search for a preferable solution by imposing and changing constraints on criteria values in the solution point (STEM, Belenson-Kapur, external branching, satisfactory goals procedures, etc.).

The results achieved by mathematical modelling to a considerable extent depend on the model adequacy to the real situation. The key here is construction of correct methods of obtaining information from people.

Descriptive-normative methods explore possibilities for eliciting reliable, consistent information from people (decision-makers, experts). Special psychological research into the human information processing system underlies the methods.

The psychological studies carried out all over the world in recent years make it possible to evaluate different approaches to eliciting information from humans and to determine correct operations, for example, comparison of alternative values against two criteria, criteria ranking with respect to priority, etc. The employed procedures of direct and indirect elicitation of information make it possible to check the decision-maker's responses, and find and remove inconsistencies on the basis of additional considerations. Qualitative notions elicited from decision-makers and experts remain intact during information processing, without any transition to numbers right up until accomplishing a desired result. The examples of descriptive-normative methods, the ZAPROS (Closed Procedures by Reference Situations) method, and the method of direct classification CLASS, are described in Annexes 1 and 2.

Comparison and choice of the best decision alternative is a closing step of any R&D forecasting and programme-planning method. Despite the fact that rule formulation procedures for making decisions differ in various methods, the overwhelming majority of the latter share common methodological shortcomings, such as:

- qualitative indicators are used for evaluation and choice of alternatives;
- expert estimates are treated as objective information subjecting them to different mathematical conversions;
- there are "pseudo-objective" mathematical models of estimate aggregation having no descriptive substantiation;
- many relationships are far from indisputable and are formulated by different methods;
- insignificant changes in the model regulations may decisively affect the ultimate result.

The major methodological problems to be given attention at the current stage are as follows:

- it is necessary to use correct methods of information gathering and processing when comparing and selecting the alternatives;
- the decision-maker must participate directly in the development of comparison and selection criteria;
- methods for the aggregation of estimates, and for the comparison and choice of alternatives must operate on decision-makers' preferences, as well as provide for a stagewise monitoring of "best decision" development and for adjusting the process of selection.

#### 1.7 Analysis of programme-planning methods

The programme-planning methods are, in effect, labour engineering procedures applied to the activities of managers and staff of planning bodies, analysts and experts. To compare the methods from the methodological standpoint it is necessary to formalize the comparison criterion. This criterion must be closely linked with the general purpose of the method application. Hence, the following requirement may be set for programmeplanning techniques.

A transition from global goals through ways of accomplishing them to resource allocation decisions, the programme-planning procedure must allow decisionmakers to control all the consequences of accepting different information from experts, and formulating various decision rules.

Comparison of the existing techniques with respect to meeting this requirement will, in effect, be their comparative assessment against the criterion characterising practical utility of the method. Indeed, successful practical application of the method is evinced by the extent to which it increases the actual influence of the top manager on decision-making. In analysing, we shall follow the above-mentioned stages of the systems approach. These stages are not obligatorily part of each of the programme planning methods, but they are found in many of them.

The analysis of trends in system development and in forecast background changes is a mandatory stage only for some of the methods (PATTERN, PROFILE, QUEST, PPB, CPE and forecast graph method). Thus in PATTERN and CPE methods the forecast covers 10-15 years. The forecast horizon in the forecast graph method is 15-25 years. In order to expose internal development regularities, use is usually made of scenario and expert judgement methods. To study the dynamics of the forecast background use is made of analysis of factual information, extrapolation of trends, and classification of events.

The major methodological shortcoming of many R&D programme-planning techniques is poor linkage of exploratory forecast with the needs of the planning body with regard to selection and validation of the master goal. The PATTERN, CPE, TORQUE and other methods give little attention to substantiating the master goal which is treated as if natural and evident.

The principal purpose of R&D programme-planning techniques is the construction of a successive transition from master goals to means of their accomplishment. The most widely accepted approach is the construction of relevance trees (PATTERN, PROFILE, TORQUE, CPE, etc.). There are also hierarchical structure methods (PPB, ZAPROS, etc.) and matrix methods (QUEST, RDE, etc.).

An extensive literature on R&D programme-planning techniques practically neglects the issues of selecting the number of levels of relevance tree or hierarchical structure and the number of groups of homogeneous components. The PATTERN designers only indicate that the number of relevance tree levels depends on the quantity of assignments, and on the depth and concreteness of the research plan. They do not offer any concrete recommendations or any methodological principles that could provide a basis for such recommendations.

With a view to constructing relevance trees, the majority of known methods make use of similar procedures involving definition of a master goal and subsequent systematic transition to complete sets of subgoals of lower levels. The components are attributed to some level or other on the basis of their relations with (contribution to) the higher-level components rather than belonging to a certain class of objects. Hence, components of a different nature may happen to be on one and the same level.

A certain step forward, as compared with the relevance tree methods, are hierarchical structure and matrix methods where attribution of components to some group, and relations between components are determined by the internal structure logic of the planning system (of field of science) applying the given method; thus for example QUEST, developed by UNESCO for priority determination in science and technology. In this method three groups of objects are differentiated: military problems, engineering sectors and scientific branches. Each one has its own classification attribute. Relationships between objects of different levels are evaluated with respect to contribution coefficients. Nevertheless, hierarchical structure and matrix methods may involve cases of illogical aggregation of components at different levels which are caused by distortion of the unified principles of component differentiation at each system level.

Consideration of the most popular R&D programmeplanning techniques leads to the conclusion that very often they lack explicit criteria providing a basis for determining the number of hierarchical levels, and evaluating communications between the objects of different levels. An exception is the hierarchical schemes method where criteria are formulated on the basis of the decisionmaker's preferences.

The principal step in developing programme-planning techniques is the compilation of a list of criteria against which the components of each level are to be assessed. As a rule, different criteria are employed at different levels of the hierarchy. Components of different levels are typically estimated by different groups of experts.

The majority of programme-planning techniques evaluate components in numerical terms ("weights", contribution coefficients, impact, significance, relative importance, probability of goal accomplishment, occurrence of events, and the like). As was mentioned above, however, the application of numerical variables to assessing complex and differently interpreted characteristics (such as "R&D perspectiveness", "fundamental significance", "contribution to the solution of applied problems", etc.) reduces reliability of the acquired information and, in the final count, the practical utility of recommendations generated with the method.

A considerable shortcoming of many R&D programme-planning methods is that criteria are developed without the decision-maker's participation. Since the manager has to resort to expert assistance for obtaining some or other estimates, the criteria and scales of their assessment are, then, a language for decision-maker-expert interaction. Under these circumstances, the decisionmaker's confidence in expert information is possible only in the case where the manager directly participates in selecting the experts and developing the object assessment criteria and scales thereof.

Development of a decision rule for comparing different decision alternatives and selection of the best option differ in various R&D programme-planning techniques. In many methods estimates of components are aggregated in a single numerical coefficient of importance. The general measure of significance for some task at any level of a relevance tree is computed, in the PATTERN method, by multiplying the rated coefficients of relative significance upward the relevance tree. Similar procedures of component estimate aggregation are employed in PRO-FILE and TORQUE techniques. As far as PROFILE is concerned, the utility of tasks is different for each of the selected sectors, while in TORQUE the measure of significance is computed for each element of the lower level.

As for the CPE method, it makes use of the more simple and concrete method of table construction rather than quantitative measures of contribution. A subgoal utility assessment is carried out by experts in utility classes. In this case too, however, a relative "importance" of criteria is determined in numerical form for estimate aggregation, and the utility classes themselves are treated as estimate weights.

In the field of advanced research programme-planning, so difficult to formalize, wide use is made of mathematical models, often rather complex. In such models, numerical expert estimates of qualitative factors (such as "fundamental significance" or "correspondence to the organization profile") are employed in various mathematical conversions along with objective quantitative values subject to precise measurement (e.g., annual cost of project, number of researchers at the institute, etc.). Utilization of such inhomogeneous information in one model seems rather risky and incorrect methodologically.

The decision-maker's role in programme planning typically boils down to discussion and general statement of the task. Development of the method structure, systems of criteria, and defining the form of the decision rule is, generally, carried out without decision-maker's participation. As a result, the latter is offered the "best" unique solution. And he/she remains ignorant of the information conversion. Therefore, the mistrust of the planning body management to the thus developed recommendations seems quite natural. The attempts to identify decision-maker's preferences, by assigning numerical "weights" to criteria, change essentially nothing.

On the whole, the use of numerical measures in R&D programme-planning for evaluation and selection of alternatives seems unreasonable and inadequate to the considered problems. A greater decision-makers' confidence in the final results is secured by the methods making use of correct procedures of information collection and processing, based on decision-maker's preferences, allowing the decision-maker to control all stages in decision preparation and making, and to estimate the consequences of the decision made. This is the case in ZAPROS or CLASS methods.

### Part II

### **USSR** case studies

# 2.1 Forecasting applied research and development

#### Goals

The major part of the scientific and technological potential is concentrated in the productive sectors of economy. The sectoral R&D organizations conduct the lion's share of applied research and the overwhelming majority of experimental development projects, as well as some fundamental research largely oriented toward the solution of sectoral problems. The R&D conducted by industries is one of the major links in the process of "science-innovation-production" and should provide the materialization of technological advances and their utilization in economy. The scale and benefits of the applied R&D depend to a considerable extent on the resources allocated.

A general forecast of advances in sectoral science and technology is built on the basis of exploratory forecasts of R&D in individual industries. The data obtained must be generalized in accordance with the scientific and technological policy of the management bodies (USSR State Committee for Science and Technologies, Ministries, USSR Academy of Sciences, etc.) with a view to integrating and harmonizing different alternatives of economic development. The basic purposes of forecasting by this method are:

- selection of advanced directions of applied R&D;
- analysis of R&D resource supply in the branches of economy.

#### Approach employed

In conducting a comparative analysis of sectoral research use is made of a special generalized logical model whose principal building blocks are: economic objectives of sectoral development, directions of R&D, scientific and technological problems, and resources. The objectives (goals) of sectoral development are determined by analysing the general trends in socioeconomic development of the country and projecting changes in production and consumption patterns. These objectives are formulated in a rather general form and take into account the interests of the national economy as a whole, possible resource constraints, as well as consistency with the "rank" of the industry in the national economy in the long run. Besides, the objectives of different industries may be expressed quantitatively in terms of specific indices of production and/or consumption.

The directions of R&D are the aggregates of scientific and technological research tasks providing for a technological solution of sectoral problems. The R&D directions are differentiated by analysing the current R&D state-ofthe-art with regard to the future objectives of the industries and the existing resource constraints.

Scientific and technological research tasks, treated as the means of development goals accomplishment, are formulated within each R&D direction. An R&D task is defined as an integration of R&D activities oriented toward a concrete ultimate result (development of a machine with specified parameters, a manufacturing process ensuring the required accuracy, quality, etc.). Scientific and technological research tasks have both quantitative estimates (approximate costs, lead time, effectiveness) and qualitative characteristics. The relationships between guantitative and gualitative variables cannot be uniformly prescribed, hence, it is difficult and, more often, impossible to evaluate the overall significance of the task. What is more, the value of an individual scientific and technological research task will depend to a considerable extent on the national economic objectives it is supposed to accomplish.

Staffing and funding of sectoral R&D organizations, their experimental facilities and pilot plants are considered as resources in the model. The basic characteristics of scientific and technological potential are described by the indices specified by the statutory forms of the standing national accounting system.

Development and assessment of the components of the logical model are carried out with the help of managers and skilled professionals from ministries and agencies, leading sectoral research institutes on the basis of exploratory forecasts of development of sectors of economy, forecasts of individual branches of science and technology, foreign and national scientific and technological information, patents, statistical data, research programmes and plans.

The lists of long-range sectoral economic objectives, directions of R&D, scientific and technological research tasks are compiled by the parent sectoral research institutes and agreed upon with the industry administration (ministries, agencies). Qualitative and quantitative criteria are established for evaluating scientific and technological research tasks and their contribution to the solution of sectoral objectives. Experts' interviews are conducted for each sector separately, in line with a special procedure making use of expert analysis charts.

#### Criteria

The scientific and technological research tasks are at present characterized by the following scaled criteria:

- A1. Task orientation with respect to its contribution to the solution of the major national economic objectives.
- A2. Area and scale of R&D outcome application.
- A3. Comparison with foreign level.
- A4. Availability of research backlog for accomplishing the task.
- A5. Approximate time of task accomplishment.
- A6. Expected economic payoff.
- A7. Approximate cost of task solution.
- A8. Required resources.

A part of the criteria have quantitative scales while others are qualitative. With some criteria one is allowed to use both quantitative and qualitative estimates depending on the available information. Qualitative criteria have different types of scaled structure. For example, criterion A1 scale looks as follows:

A1. Task orientation with respect to its contribution to the solution of the major national economic objectives:

- a. labour saving;
- b. energy saving;
- c. saving and substitution of scarce raw materials;
- d. improvement of product quality;
- e. solution of ecological problems;
- f. solution of social problems;
- g. solution of organizational and technological problems of the industry.

#### Method

The choice of applied R&D directions is based on a comprehensive comparative analysis of scientific and technological research tasks coped with in the context of the aforementioned directions and in conformity with the scientific and technological policy. The long-range scientific and technological development policy of an industry may take the form of requirements to the applied R&D output which may in turn necessitate the solution of certain national economic problems within the projected period. Account should also be taken of R&D economic benefits. Priority is given to tasks making the greatest contribution to the accomplishment of the assigned targets.

It must be kept in mind, however, that the scientific and technological development policy of different ministries may sometimes not be fully consistent with the more general goals of national economic development, and/or disregard resource constraints and their allocation.

Definition of the scientific and technological policy is the most important phase in the process as the chosen alternative R&D policy bears decisively upon the ultimate result. The choice of goals, their definition in a general form and transition to sets of criteria estimates must follow a thoroughly thought out procedure, and be carried out with direct decision-maker participation.

The scientific and technological policy alternatives are suggested by the sectoral and industrial management body or manager in the form of estimates against criteria A1 -A8, or combinations thereof. For example, "Primary attention within the projected period should be given to the R&D directions which provide for a significant saving of labour, improve solution of ecological problems, ensure much higher quality of product (criterion Al). It is highly desirable to secure a certain ratio between the task solution costs and benefits (criteria A6, and A7) and the task accomplishment by a certain date (criterion A5)". Referred to as priority are the scientific and technological tasks having the required combinations of estimates against the listed criteria.

The decision-maker could evaluate the consequences of the choice of some or other alternative policy, sort out the respective lists of tasks and directions and, if necessary, adjust his requirements with regard to circumstances.

The priority analysis of scientific and technological research tasks was conducted for the entire national economy, for clusters of industries, and for individual sectors. Subject to analysis were several alternative scientific and technological policies. The compiled list of perspective R&D directions and priority research tasks made it possible to define the industries, research and technological organizations working on given research tasks, and to assess the resource supply.

In analysing scientific and technological potential in

industries, and assessing its development trends, use was made not only of data on the prospects of applied R&D directions, but of a number of other statistical indices. These are the share of people engaged in R&D in relation to the total manpower of the industry; the ratio between science expenditure and product output in monetary terms; the share of researchers holding academic degrees in the total R&D personnel; and some others.

In forecasting resource supply needed for R&D in the various branches of the national economy, account was taken of the scientific resource development forecast for the country as a whole; of the necessity of removing disharmonies in the scientific and technological potential of various branches of economy; of trends in R&D expense pattern changes (increased share of expenditures on improving material and technical base of science) and research personnel skills (increased share of highly skilled researchers - doctors and candidates of science); of reduced rates of the total manpower growth. A forecast of resource supply changes was made by analysing and extrapolating the trends of indicator time series.

#### Utilization of results

The above method and the collected information on R&D carried out in the branches of the national economy, provided a basis for a comprehensive analysis of sectoral scientific and technological problems and for the identification of the priority research tasks meeting different national economic goals. It became possible to study scientific and technological relationships between sectoral economic complexes, and identify inter-industry problems common to several complexes. A forecast of the likely development of scientific and technological potential and of resource allocation to R&D was prepared.

The method was used for the preparation of sectoral science development forecasts.

#### 2.2 Forecasting and programme planning of medical research

#### Goals

Health care of the people is one of the most important of socioeconomic objectives. Its solution is largely determined by advances in bio-medical science. In the USSR bio-medical research is carried out in numerous research institutions and higher educational establishments of different industries and organizations. So the management system of bio-medical science is of complex matrix structure. Hence, development of research policy in the health sector and the implementation thereof was considered as of vital importance.

The research policy manifests itself in identifying the most pressing development directions of medical science, and the priority problems whose solution will heavily contribute to the accomplishment of the standing goals. In pursuing a chosen policy, special attention should be given to the research efforts making the greatest contribution to the solution of crucial health care and medical problems. It is necessary to choose such research projects, to coordinate them, to promote their accomplishment, and to effectively apply the obtained results.

Coordination of efforts within the major research directions plays a special role as ministries and agencies allocate their resources to bio-medical research independently, and may have their own systems of goals far from always matching the national scientific and technological policy in bio-medical sciences.

Harmonization of different approaches and integration of efforts are exercised at the preparatory stage of forecast formulation, and while drawing up research programmes and plans. Forecasting and planning of biomedical research require the solution of the following tasks:

- choice of pressing directions of research;
- priority analysis and determination of research problems;
- comprehensive analysis of the planned research and assessment of the accomplished results.

#### Approach employed

The problem structure of bio-medical science can be represented as a multilevel hierarchical scheme comprising scientific research branches, problems and projects.

A branch of research (complex problem) is a large area of bio-medical science concerned with problems such as the protection and improvement of health of both individuals and society, perception of the essence of life phenomena, the causes and mechanisms of diseases, the development and improvement of methods and means of prophylaxis, diagnosis and treatment.

A problem is a relatively independent part of a research branch covering the basic theoretical, experimental, clinical, or socio-hygienic aspects of the given branch and containing explicit research objectives.

It is generally accepted to treat a research project as autonomous research. In 1988, there were over 40 branches and more than 200 problems in bio-medical science within the frameworks of which more than ten thousand projects were worked on annually.

The coordinating functions in the whole field were exercised by the Scientific Boards of the USSR Academy of Medical Sciences which supervised research activities conducted within a certain area of medicine, participated in the development of forecasts, programmes, plans, and made expert judgement on planned projects and obtained results. Membership of the Scientific Boards and their problem committees was made up of prominent medical scientists, leading professionals and executive personnel of health care centres. Pressing directions of bio-medicine for the forthcoming future were determined by management bodies in cooperation with the Scientific Boards proceeding from the needs of practical health care and development perspectives of bio-medical science. The list of problems and branches of bio-medical research reflected the scientific and technological research policy in the health sector.

The urgency of a research branch and the priority of a problem are versatile notions that can be characterized by a set of criteria representing preferences of management bodies. The composition and contents of these criteria were agreed upon with the eminent specialists of the Presidium of the USSR Academy of Medical Sciences. Interviewing of experts for estimating the branches and problems (about 1,000 members of Scientific Boards and problem committees of the USSR Academy of Medical Sciences were interrogated) was carried out with special questionnaires. Experts usually estimated the problems falling within the area of their scientific interests and competence.

The multicriteria expert analysis of the planned research projects and of the obtained results was carried out while formulating the current research plans and assessing the results of their fulfillment. First, each project was examined, with regard to its problematique, at a respective problem committee and then by a skilled expert - a member of the problem committee. To facilitate and unify the above procedures, and to utilize computer technology in information processing, special information documents have been developed to be filled in for each project. All information about the project was integrated into three groups: organizational information, topical contents of research and criterial estimates. The characteristics of the research theme and results were chosen on the basis of systems analysis of medicine, and analysis of the informational needs of medical science management bodies.

#### Criteria

The *research branches* have been estimated against four criteria.

- H1. Contribution of the research branch to the solution of the major bio-medical problems.
- H2. Contribution of the research branch to the solution of the major health sector problems.
- H3. Feasibility of accomplishing radically new scientific results in the near future.
- H4. Possibility of rapid implementation of the scientific results in health care.

The problem estimation criteria were chosen to be:

- P1. Contribution of the problem to the solution of public health protection objectives.
- P2. Fundamental significance of the problem.
- P3. Applied significance of the problem.

- P4. Prospectivity of the problem.
- P5. Spin-off (impact of the problem solution on other problems).
- P6. Comparative level of theoretical research into the problem in the USSR and abroad.
- P7. Comparative level of experimental studies into the problem in the USSR and abroad.

The *planned research project* is estimated by the following criteria:

- T1. Priority.
- T2. Urgency.
- T3. Prospectivity.
- T4. Methodological level.
- T5. Fundamental significance.
- T6. Applied significance.

To estimate the *obtained results* use was made of the following criteria:

- R1. Novelty.
- R2. Theoretical utility.
- R3. Practical utility.
- R4. Expected benefits of utilization.

The research branch and problem assessment against each criterion was carried out on special quality scales which had expanded verbal descriptions. For example, criterion P1 had the following estimate scale:

P1. Contribution of the problem to the solution of public health protection objectives:

- a. research conducted within the given problem makes a considerable contribution to the solution of a set of the major tasks concerned with public health protection aimed at reducing the general and occupational sickness rate, invalidity and mortality;
- b. research conducted within the given problem makes a considerable contribution to the solution of individual major tasks of public health protection;
- c. research conducted within the given problem does not make any meaningful contribution to the solution of the major health protection objectives.

#### Method

The choice of pressing research branches and analysis of research problem priority boil down to ordering (ranking) the respective objects by the selected criteria. The interrogation of experts was carried out by two methods: paired comparison technique and multiattribute expert assessment.

The first of the above methods was used for identifying the most important directions of bio-medical science out of the compiled list of research directions. First, ranking was performed against the four partial criteria H1-H4. The analysis of correlation between the rankings by individual criteria made it possible to single out two of them - H1 and H2 - which most fully characterized the expert preferences. Non metric factorial analysis made it possible to combine partial criteria into an aggregate criterion which helped determine a central group of six directions considered most crucial.

The relative priority of problems was determined by both methods. The multiattribute expert assessment involved separate rankings against criteria P1-P5 followed by the final ordering on the basis of the vector preference relation. With a view to ranking the problems, which turned out to be incomparable, a special procedure was developed making use of decision-maker preferences.

The problem-rankings obtained by the two different techniques were sufficiently close in a considerable number of research branches. This made it possible to distinguish a set of priority problems The consistency of expert estimates was quite satisfactory. In addition, subgroups of highly consistent expert opinions was established, and the stability of final ordering with respect to the above procedure was checked. The multiple criteria problem estimates also permit identification of problems meeting certain estimates against individual criteria or combinations of estimates, and exercise an additional analysis of these problems.

A multiattribute assessment of a research project in launching and completing is performed through the expert review making no use of formal procedures. The expert recommends the incorporation of a project in the plan, following the acquaintance with its content reflecting the research objectives, the employed methods and equipment, and the expected results. Account is also taken of the project's feasibility, the available resources and the schedule. The contribution made by the project to the accomplishment of health care and medical science objectives is assessed by criteria T1-T6. In reviewing the results of research the expert, by making use of criteria P1-P4, estimates the obtained results, their correspondence with the plan targets, and makes recommendations on their application in medical practice.

#### Utilization of results

The results of problem and branch priority analysis and their comparison with foreign levels were used by the Academy of Medical Sciences of the USSR in drawing up advanced research plans and formulation of bio-medical science development forecasts.

The multiattribute assessment of problems and projects was used in drawing up programmes, plans of research activities in medicine, and in analysing their accomplishments. The review of planned bio-medical projects and of obtained results was one of the compulsory phases in the ordered procedure of annual planning and accountability of bio-medical research.

## 2.3 Long-range programme planning of astronomical research

#### Goals

The trends emerging in astronomical research in recent years are characteristic of the majority of areas of fundamental science: increasingly expanding range of research, and the sharply growing technical difficulties of accomplishing new scientific results. The successes in astronomical research are largely determined by the availability of unique, expensive and sophisticated equipment. The considered method was used for solving the following objectives in long-range planning of astronomical research:

- determination of astronomical observation facilities required for the solution of the assigned objectives;
- allocation of scarce resources to the manufacture and acquisition of technical facilities supporting the accomplishment of the research objectives;
- feasibility analysis of the task solution with the available technical base.

#### Approach employed

The approach is based on modelling the relationships of goals, methods and tools of fundamental research. The general model structure is a hierarchical scheme where the research goals are treated as a progress in solving the research tasks in a concrete scientific area integrating a number of research branches. The combined ways to goal accomplishment are research tasks. The research methods and technical facilities are treated as tools for the goal achievement.

A branch of research in astronomy integrates a set of research problems involving the basic issues of the structure of the Universe and the evolution of its separate objects. A research problem boils down to the study into different parameters of a certain class of celestial objects by different techniques for solution of a scientific problem or part of it. The research method is a combination of technical observational facilities, observation techniques, and those of data processing. Technical facilities comprise telescopes, analysers, detectors, signal recording and processing systems and other auxiliary technical equipment.

The model covered 25 branches of research, 67 scientific problems, 56 research methods and 63 types of technical facilities. The lists of the components of all model levels were agreed upon with the Astronomical Board of the USSR Academy of Sciences, and prominent Soviet astronomers. The experts evaluating all the model's components were leading Soviet scientists representing all astronomical centres of the USSR. The experts were interviewed using special questionnaires.

#### Criteria

For the estimation of *research branches* use was made of the following eleven criteria:

- H1. Fundamental utility of the branch.
- H2. Prospectivity of the branch.
- H3. Applied utility of the branch.
- H4. Possibility of rapid introduction of results into the national economy.
- H5. Contribution of the USSR Academy of Sciences to the research conducted within the branch.
- H6. Trends in the changes of the Academy's role.
- H7. Adequacy of branch staffing.
- H8. The level of observation organization in the branch.
- H9. Availability of foreign observational data in the branch
- H10. The level of theoretical research in the USSR.
- H11. The level of astronomical research in the USSR.

The *research tasks* were assessed against the following seven criteria:

- P1. Contribution of the task to the solution of the major astronomical problems.
- P2. Prospectivity of different types of observation within the context of the task.
- P3. Comparison of national and foreign levels of theoretical research into the problem.
- P4. Comparison of national and foreign levels of astronomical observations within the context of the problem.
- P5. The level of task staffing.
- P6. The level of observation arrangement within the context of the problem.
- P7. Availability of foreign observation data on the problem.

The efficiency of *research methods* was evaluated against three criteria:

- M1. The utilization of different research methods into the given problem.
- M2. Informativeness of different observational methods as applied to objects of the given task.
- M3. Versatility of the results obtained by different methods within the context of the given task.

The evaluation of *technical facilities* was conducted against seven criteria:

- T1. Efficiency of the variety of research techniques and telescopes employed in the USSR.
- T2. Comparative efficiency of Soviet and foreign research techniques as applied to one and the same telescope.
- T3. Impact of the telescope quality and type on efficiency of the employed methods.
- T4. The task's demand for different types of telescopes.

- T5. The research task's demand for telescopes of different sizes.
- T6. Comparison of national and foreign samples of astronomical facilities.
- Comparison of experimental national and foreign samples of devices.

Scales with quantitative estimates were developed for all criteria. For example, a scale for criterion H1 looked like:

H1. Fundamental utility of the branch.

- a. the results generated within the branch make a significant contribution in solving global scientific objectives of astronomy and considerably bear upon the future development of astronomy as a whole;
- b. the results obtained within the given branch are, undoubtedly, important and necessary for accomplishing some global astronomical problems;
- c. the results obtained within the given branch will enhance solution of some global astronomical problems;
- d. progress in the solution of global astronomical problems has nothing to do with (does not depend on) the level of research within the context of the given branch.

#### Method

The basic procedure of the method is a sequential transition from research objectives to technical facilities when allocating resources (downward transition) or from technical facilities to goals when analysing capacities of devices (upward transition).

The research goals (policy) were formulated by the management body or decision-maker against a set of the branch assessment criteria in the form of a combination of some estimates. Thus, for example, a research policy alternative requiring to focus, in the near future, on the research branches which are of fundamental significance, promising from the standpoint of possible scientific results, and indirectly affect solution of national economic problems may be represented as a set of estimates by criteria H1 a,b - H2 a,b - H3 a,b,c. Each policy alternative is put in correspondence with a certain subset of branches meeting the prescribed set of estimates.

The choice of a subset of research branches is followed by identification of problems in which the research will make the greatest contribution to the progress toward the goals established by the scientific research policy. The tasks are selected depending on their contribution to meeting the major astronomical objectives (criterion P1) and a set of estimates characterizing different aspects of the task (criteria P3-P7). The tasks heavily contributing to the solution of at least one of the chosen problems and having an estimate by criterion P1 not worse than the prescribed one (the estimate was done by the decisionmaker), are selected irrespective of their estimates by the remaining criteria. The task whose estimates against criterion P1 are worse than the prescribed ones are analysed additionally for the correspondence with the combination of requirements by criteria P3-P7.

The choice of research methods is carried out with respect to each of the selected research tasks since the effectiveness of one and the same method is dissimilar within the context of different problems. The procedure of method selection was developed in cooperation with the manager and took account of his preferences. A set of problems, selected at the preceding stage, is initially divided into three groups depending on the estimates by criterion P2 characterizing the specifics of the present state and development prospects of the considered problems. Criteria M2 and M3 set different requirements to the methods as applied to the problems of each identified group.

The following stage was devoted to the identification of technical facilities whose absence or characteristics do not allow one to take advantage of the methods' capacities in studying the objects within the chosen research tasks. The procedure for identifying the list of scarce technical facilities was compiled in close collaboration with decision-makers. This procedure involved the analysis of the impact which the parameters of serial and experimental domestic devices have on the capabilities of the methods, and the comparison of domestically built equipment with the best analogous foreign types (the characteristics of telescopes, and auxiliary equipment were reviewed separately).

Following completion of the foregoing stages of the method, the lists of telescopes necessary for accomplishing the research goals were compiled accompanied by evaluation of the degree of their scarcity. Also, a list of scarce auxiliary equipment was drawn up specifying critical parameters for serial and experimental prototypes.

#### Utilization of results

The definition of technical facilities required for the accomplishment of the assigned research goals provides a basis for the formulation of finance plan options for astronomical research, thus making it possible, to some extent, to ease the shortage of technical facilities. The shortage can possibly be alleviated by the importation of foreign and the purchase of domestic equipment with the required characteristics or by organization of the production of necessary technical facilities.

The selection of ways to alleviating the shortage accompanies the preparation of funding plan alternatives with regard to monetary and production constraints. An alternative plan is considered feasible if the shortage of technical facilities can be eliminated without exceeding the present constraints on all kinds of resources. In case no plan alternative is practicable, it is necessary to adjust the research policy by way of increasing the requirements to the assessment of problems and research branches.

In a general case, the choice of an acceptable alternative of resource allocation is an iterative procedure where each step involves an adjustment of the initial research policy alternative and an evaluation of consequences of this adjustment. Analysing an influence of the changing requirements against criteria on the final result, the decision-maker can identify the "most critical" components and criteria; and change, if necessary, the list of criteria and relationships between the model's components. This procedure is reiterated, with decision-maker participation, until all assigned resource constraints are met, or the decision-maker is sure that the available resources do not allow the accomplishment of the research goals. In this case decision-maker may change resource constraints.

When the resource allocation alternative is known from the outset (i.e. there is a plan of equipment purchase or a concrete technical base of research) the research branches, where maximum progress can be made, are determined in a similar manner. In a sense, this problem is the reverse of the preceding one, and in order to solve it, it is necessary to go up through the hierarchical scheme.

This method was used by the Astronomical Board of the USSR Academy of Sciences for elaboration of observation programmes in a number of astrophysical observatories of the Academy.

# 2.4 Elaboration of an interdisciplinary programme:"Surface"

#### Goals

One of the key objectives of material science is to study the structure and properties of materials' surface and surface phenomena. The study of the surface is an essentially interdisciplinary problem worked on by many research institutions in physics, chemistry, engineering and other disciplines. The outcome of this research is very important for meeting the demand of the national economy for materials with specified properties. At the same time, research into surface processes was characterized by the lack of explicit coordination of efforts, by insufficiently effective utilization of available equipment. All this made it necessary to set up an interdisciplinary programme, entitled "Surface", behind which was a deep and comprehensive analysis of different aspects of research and its resource supply.

The following tasks have been solved with respect to the interdisciplinary "Surface" field:

- analysis of the fundamental research contribution to solving practical national economic problems;
- identification of the perspective areas of fundamental research in urgent need of additional equipment, and

determination of a set of practical tasks whose solution may benefit from the identified fundamental research;

- analysis of the specified set of applied problems (identification of a set of fundamental problems associated with the specified applied ones, and a list of Institutes conducting research in the above areas).

#### Approach employed

A key stage in the "Surface" programme elaboration is the development of a logical model having a multilevel hierarchical structure and reflecting the relationships between the programme components. The basic blocks of the model are: fundamental research, applied research, practical problems, and resource requirements for programme accomplishment. Each block of the model is disaggregated into components, and the degree of detail was determined by the specifics of the block and by the nature of the possible relationships with the components of other blocks.

Fundamental and applied research are treated according to standard definitions. The majority of them are of complex, interdisciplinary nature and cannot be easily referred to the established fields of science. Composition of the "fundamental research" block was determined by analysing the plans of research activities at the Institutes of the USSR Academy of Sciences with the assistance of experts who were leading specialists in the respective areas of research. The effort resulted in the identification of 33 fundamental problems.

Applied research is oriented toward the solution of practical problems. The "applied research" block comprises 75 applied problems. Its components were chosen on the basis of data available at the USSR Academy of Sciences concerning the introduction of research results in practice with regard to the major R&D trends in the field of materials science abroad.

The "practical problems" cover the basic needs of different branches of the national economy in new materials and manufacturing processes. Altogether, the block contains 40 most important practical problems categorized as several groups. The practical problems were formulated and put together on the basis of an analysis of up to date plans of activities in different branches of the national economy.

The "resource" block is concerned with research personnel and technical facilities available at the Institutes of the USSR Academy of Sciences and Academies of Sciences of republics conducting research into different surface phenomena.

Construction and evaluation of the model components were carried out with the assistance of the leading experts in surface research working in different fields of science. The list of experts was compiled with the assistance of the USSR Academy of Sciences' Presidium. The experts acquainted themselves with the general aims of the inquiry in advance. They selected, out of a variety of model components, the ones that lay within the range of their professional interests. Then the components of all blocks and relationships between fundamental and applied research, applied research and practical problems were evaluated by a special procedure. With a view to evaluating the model's components and relations between them, quantitative criteria were formulated.

#### Criteria

The fundamental problems were evaluated against three criteria:

- F1. The level of fundamental research in the USSR and abroad.
- F2. Prospects for fundamental research.
- F3. Resource requirements.

For evaluating the relations between the model's components use was made of the following criteria:

- B1. Contribution of fundamental research output to solving applied problems.
- B2. Contribution of applied research to the solution of practical problems.

Scales with expanded verbal estimates reflecting quality divisions and distinguishable for decision-makers and experts were developed for all criteria.

#### Method

The development of alternative decisions and analysis of their implications were assisted by the Programme Committee and boiled down to select various subsets of components of each model block which met certain requirements.

The analysis of the contribution of fundamental research to the solving of practical problems was performed as follows. First, a list of practical problems was specified, followed by determination of a subset of applied problems of the greatest significance for the solution of the practical problems. Included in the subset were the applied problems having the best estimates against the criterion of contribution to solving the specified practical problems (criterion B2). Then fundamental problems were chosen whose results decisively contribute to solving a subset of applied problems specified earlier, i.e. fundamental problems having the best estimate by criterion Bl with respect to at least one of the identified applied problems. It was found that three fundamental problems have principal significance for solving the overwhelming majority of practical problems. The thus formulated subsets of fundamental problems was behind the list of Institutes conducting the key research into these problems.

Solution of the second problem was carried out in reverse order. First, identified out of the variety of funda-

mental problems were ones having the necessary combination of estimates against criteria, i.e. the most perspective problems (the highest estimates by criterion F2) whose level of research corresponds to foreign standards or somewhat lags behind (the lowest estimates by criterion F1) but for which the allocation of additional resources would considerably improve the state of affairs (the highest estimates by criterion F3). Then analysis was made of the contribution of the identified fundamental problems to the solution of applied problems, which makes it possible to select those applied problems whose solution is especially affected by the identified fundamental problems (the highest estimates by criterion B1). Then, identified in a similar way are the practical problems whose solution is related to the identified applied problems, and the significance of fundamental problems for each practical problem is assessed.

Only four out of a variety of fundamental problems had the necessary combination of estimates by criteria. The analysis of the contribution of the applied problems, identified for each of the earlier selected fundamental problems, to the solution of practical problems revealed their significance for a considerable part of the problems at hand. The final stage is concerned with the compilation of a list of Institutes conducting the respective fundamental research and which are in need of additional resources for enhancing the research and speeding up solution of the problems faced.

The analysis of the assigned set of applied problems involves determination of the associated subset of fundamental problems and practical problems. Nine applied problems in which some ministries, funding the research into material surface phenomena, showed interest, were chosen as an original subset. It was determined that the solution of the above problems required research into eight fundamental problems, two out of which are especially important for all identified problems. This information provided a basis for a list of Institutes working in the mentioned areas. Also mentioned are the practical problems whose solution is associated with the research into the chosen applied problems.

#### Utilization of results

Application of the method followed a comprehensive analysis of the current state-of-the-art and trends in research relating to various aspects of the study of materials' surface. It also helped determine relations between fundamental and applied problems, and define the contribution of possible results of research in the solution of national economic objectives. The developed model makes it possible to formulate and structure scientific and technological policy alternatives, to identify and analyse the deterrent and supporting factors affecting the solution of practical problems, and to obtain information necessary for the allocation of additional resources to the Institutes conducting the respective fundamental research.

The method was used for the elaboration of an interdisciplinary research programme entitled "Surface" at the USSR Academy of Sciences.

# 2.5 Assessment of research and experimental development requests

#### Goals

The problem of choice of R&D branches and projects has been gaining an ever-increasing significance for the implementation of scientific and technological policy in recent decades. The range and cost of research activities are increasing. When the scope of R&D exceeds the available resources, the management body faces the need to exercise a deep and comprehensive evaluation of activities and to select the most significant ones to be included in the plan.

The same problem faces the leadership of ministries and agencies when evaluating the incoming requests for R&D. The choice of some alternative R&D is affected both by quantitative factors (cost, benefit, etc.) and qualitative factors (availability of scientific back-log, skills of wouldbe performers, etc.) and the latter usually prevail over the quantitative factors.

For the solution of ill-structured problems of alternative evaluation and choice under multiple criteria use was made of the ZAPROS method (see Annex 1). This helped to perform the following tasks:

- the multiattribute evaluation of R&D requests;
- the drawing up of R&D plans (programmes).

#### Approach employed

In the first place, a list of R&D requests and a system of criteria for their evaluation were developed. The criteria reflect the scientific and technological policy pursued by the management body or a decision-maker. Therefore, in constructing a set of criteria account should be taken of all essential criteria. The completeness of this system is checked by a logical analysis with the decision-maker's participation.

The key problem here is to elicit correct R&D request estimates from experts. For this purpose, use was made of qualitative criterion estimate scales with a small number of divisions. The estimates against each criterion were formulated in cooperation with the decision-maker. Their quantity was determined by the latter who wanted to differentiate certain distinguishable levels to be measured. Each estimate formulation was discussed in detail with a group of potential experts. Special procedures of expert interviews and expert information processing, accounting for its qualitative character, were developed.

A model of general utility for R&D requests usually breaks the entire variety of estimate combinations into ordered subsets. Each R&D request which was assigned a certain combination of criteria estimates is put in some prescribed utility class. A decision rule is constructed on the basis of information elicited from the decision-maker concerning his preferences reflecting the scientific and technological policy of the management body.

#### Criteria

For evaluating R&D requests use was made of seven criteria:

- K1. Scale of the activity (practical utility of results for solving major technological problems or objectives);
- K2. Contribution to the development of new, and improvement of the available, technology.
- K3. Expected results.
- K4. Validity of the R&D request.
- K5. Versatility of results (possibility of the results employment in different branches of the national economy).
- K6. Comparative characteristics of the activities with foreign data on similar R&D.
- K7. Readiness of the potential designers for project implementation.

All criteria scales were given expanded estimate formulations. Thus, for criterion K3, they were described as follows:

K3. Expected results:

- a. the results will be in the form of operating prototypes of make-ups;
- b. the results will be in the form of report with conclusions and concrete recommendations on their utilization;
- c. the results will be in the form of report indicating the extent of their feasibility or infeasibility.

#### Method

First of all, R&D requests coming to the planning body are divided into groups of activities close to the topics. Each topical group is assigned to experts exercising a multiattribute assessment of the requests. Each request is first assessed by one expert and then subjected to estimation by some other more authoritative expert.

The step-by-step interrogation of the decision-maker identifies his preferences, making it possible to formulate a decision rule according to which the entire variety of criterion estimate combinations is categorized as best, intermediate, and worst estimate combinations with respect to utility. The combination of the best (top) estimates by all criteria forms a natural subset of the best estimates, the combination of the worst (lower) estimates forms a subset of the worst estimates. Corresponding to each subset of combinations of criterion estimates is a certain class of request values. On passing the expert analysis procedure, the R&D requests are assigned, by the aggregate of partial estimates, a general estimate of their value according to which the activities are either included in the plan (programme) straight away, or put in reserve, or rejected. Since the requests arrive and are being evaluated during the entire period of plan formulation, the final decision on the plan format may require an adjustment of the original decision rule with regard to the concrete requests' estimates.

So, the employed approach makes it possible to elicit information from experts and decision-makers, verify it, classify the requests, and rank the groups by their significance for implementing scientific and technological policy of the management body. Note that at all stages of the method the information obtained from experts and decision-makers is processed without distortion.

#### Utilization of results

The method was successfully used in R&D planning at the USSR Academy of Sciences. They have developed and run on the computer special man-machine procedures of information collection and processing of all incoming requests, allowing a quick and prompt preparation of recommendations for the planning bodies, and made it possible to draw their attention to R&D projects that did not meet the necessary requirements.

#### 2.6 Programme planning of applied research and experimental development with regard to resource constraints

#### Goals

In planning applied research and experimental development the planning body, pursuing own certain scientific and technological policy, faces the need to select certain R&D projects to be financed, and to argue the final option of the plan with the superior authorities.

The number of projects is rather considerable, and they are complicated and diverse. The resources required for implementing each project are comparable with one another and insignificant as compared with the amount of resources available at the planning body's disposal. The total volume of required resources, however, exceeds that available. Hence, it is necessary to choose the most preferable projects consistent with the scientific and technological policy of the planning body and securing the greatest possible economic effect.

The major tasks, solved by the method of planning under resource constraints, are:

- definition of project alternatives with regard to resource constraints;
- choice of a valid alternative plan.

#### Approach employed

A scientific and technological policy of the planning body, which consists of individuals unanimous with respect to the pursued policy or reports to one and the same decision-maker, is drawn up in the form of two sets of qualitative and economic criteria. These criteria must reflect all factors which the planning body takes into account in considering the projects. Bids for development come from a reporting or superior organization, or from an external organization. To some extent, the projects are supported with manpower and material resources.

There is an opportunity for inviting experts who may skilfully and unbiasedly review and evaluate each R&D project separately, given explicitly stated criteria. The experts may offer different options of project implementation. Each R&D project can be implemented in different ways: by the given research organization alone, through international scientific and technological cooperation, or purchase of foreign licences, technologies, etc. Options differ in expenses of different currencies lead time, required material and manpower resources, etc.

Feasibility of each project is determined by the availability of skilled personnel, and financial and material resources (necessary equipment, materials, etc.). The statement of the considered task assumes that, during some time if necessary (time is determined by the experts) the required manpower can be trained abroad or at home, and the lacking materials bought abroad, given sufficient financial resources in national and foreign currencies.

In conformity with the policy of the planning body the entire variety of R&D projects is broken into two classes: projects of prime significance performed in the first place, and ordinary projects whose implementation depends on the expected economic benefits. The project financing plan accounts for the significance of each R&D project, different implementation alternatives, and the expected economic effect. The constraints imposed on the plan boil down to time limits and monetary constraints. The latter are imposed for each financing period, say, each year.

#### Criteria

The scientific and technological policy of the planning body is presented by the following criteria:

- P1. Correspondence of the considered R&D project with the prospects for scientific and technological progress of the country.
- P2. Project orientation (scale of utilizing the expected results).
- P3. Direct impact of the expected results on solution of the major national economic problems.
- P4. Political significance of the considered R&D project.

- P5. Correspondence of the R&D project with the obligations to CMEA or bilateral contracts.
- P6. Correspondence of the expected results with the level elsewhere in the world.
- P7. Novelty of the problem being solved.
- P8. Characteristics of the R&D project's contributors.

*Resource-expenditure* criteria are used as economic criteria:

- E1. Expected monetary expenses per year.
- E2. Expected currency expenditure (socialist and convertible currencies).
- E3. Number and skills of the necessary but unavailable specialists.
- E4. Total duration of the project.
- E5. Expected economic effect.

Criteria of an economic character have *quantitative* estimate scales. For *qualitative* criteria ordinal scales were developed with a small number of divisions and extended verbal descriptions. For example, for criterion P6 the scale looks like this:

P6. Correspondence of the expected results with the level elsewhere in the world:

- a. the expected results are superior to the world level;
- b. the expected results correspond to the world level;
- c. the expected results are inferior to the world level.

#### Metbod

The evaluation of the significance of R&D projects and the identification of priority projects are carried out with the assistance of the planning body management on the basis of the developed set of criteria. Naturally, the projects having the highest estimates against all qualitative criteria belong to a class of projects of prime significance, and those with the lowest estimates belong to a class of ordinary projects. There is an area of uncertainty between the two extremes comprising projects with different sets of estimates. This must be narrowed to a clear interface dividing all the projects into two classes.

For performing this task use is made of man-machine direct classification method CLASS (see Annex 2) where a basic idea is as follows. The decision-maker is presented combinations of estimates by all criteria. The information elicited from the decision-maker is extended to a number of other combinations, on the basis of dominance relations (use is made of the rank relations on criteria scales). The decision-maker's answers are checked for consistency and any detected contradictions removed. Then feasible project implementation alternatives are determined with the help of experts (up to 12 different types of alternatives).

The acquired information is used as a basis for formulation of the project financing plan, which must provide:

mandatory incorporation in the plan of every R&D project of prime significance;

- selection of a set of R&D projects securing the greatest possible aggregate economic effect given a rational consumption of the available resources.

From the mathematical standpoint the considered problem is a discrete programming problem that can be referred to as a problem of packing "multidimensional knapsacks". The heuristic algorithm for solving the given problem is based on the idea of successive packing of "numerous knapsacks". First, all projects of prime significance are packed. Then, ordinary projects with the highest values of economic effect are added. On approaching constraints, the alternatives of prime significance projects are excluded in a certain order (given a mandatory preservation of an alternative of each project of this class).

#### Utilization of results

The method was employed in drawing up R&D plans in two State-owned economic associations in Bulgaria. About 240 projects with different implementation alternatives were reviewed and evaluated. Special man-machine procedures of information collection and processing were developed and run on the computer with a view to assessing the R&D projects and financing plan. The method made it possible to develop project finance plans meeting the aggregate requirements of participants in the process of planning.

### Annex 1

### The ZAPROS method

The ZAPROS (Closed Procedures By Reference Situations) method is designed for ranking multiattribute alternatives on the basis of decision-maker preferences. The basic elements of the method are:

- determination of a set of criteria and construction of ordinal scales of estimates by each criterion reflecting, in verbal form, all essential aspects of the considered problem;
- decision-maker interrogation with a view to identifying his preferences and building a decision rule for ranking the multiattribute alternatives;
- interviewing the experts to elicite a multicriteria project estimate and order the groups of projects.

Criteria  $K_i$  (i=1,...,n) and estimate scales  $K_{ij}$  (j=1,...,m<sub>i</sub>) used for problem description constitute a decision model. The ZAPROS method employs a verbal description of the estimate scales which is a convenient and customary language of interaction between decision-maker and expert. This improves the credibility of the information elicited from the experts and the degree of confidence on the part of the decision-maker.

A set of criteria  $\{K_i\}$  and the statements of criteria values  $\{K_{ij}\}$  reflect, in a structured form, the decision-maker's policy. The estimate scale descriptions, which can be both concise and extended, make it possible to take account of uncertainties associated with the inadequate knowledge of decision implications, and a risk related with certain alternatives. It is assumed that quality grades are ordered from the best to the worst value (ordinal scales).

A decision-making rule reflecting the preferences of the decision-maker is built by a special procedure of decision-maker interrogation during which a pairwise comparison of multicriteria vectors (alternatives), constituting a set of estimate combinations by all criteria  $A = \{K_{1p}, K_{2q}, ..., K_{nr}\}$  takes place. Questions to the decision-maker are in the form of verbal statements close to natural language.

Each combination of criteria estimates is an image of

some object possessing the respective properties. The most contrasting are the so-called "reference situations"  $A_b$  and  $A_w$ , corresponding to the combinations of the best and the worst estimates against all criteria:

$$A_{b} = \{K_{11}, K_{21}, \dots, K_{n1}\}$$
$$A_{w} = \{K_{1m1}, K_{2m2}, \dots, K_{nmn}\}$$

The decision-maker performs a pairwise comparison of alternatives (evaluates quality variations against all pairs of criteria) starting the procedure once with the best-, and the other time with the worst- reference situation. A closed procedure evolves which makes it possible to check decision-maker's preferences for consistency and transitivity. The pairwise comparisons provide ground for a unified ordinal scale of estimates by all criteria. Note that as the number of criteria n grows, the abundance of information required for the construction of a unified scale increases.

On the basis of the unified estimate scale and with regard to criteria mutual dependence or independence, they build a decision rule breaking the entire set of alternatives into ordered classes of the best-, intermediate-, or worst-quality alternatives.

Ordering of real objects is carried out by the available decision rule. Experts estimate the objects against the formulated criteria reflecting the decision-maker's policy. The multicriteria assessment of an object attributes it to one of the identified classes of alternatives ranked with respect to quality Note that throughout the ZAPROS procedure, the descriptive information is not subject to any transformation or distortion.

#### Fields of application

ZAPROS is used for the assessment and choice of research and experimental development projects. In R&D programming the method is suitable for building up a "portfolio" of projects, i.e. evaluating the bids and ranking them with respect to expediency of their incorporation in the overall plan. The method is also helpful in assessing project priorities. The reasonable range of method application is as follows: the number of criteria, n = 2-9; the number of scale divisions, m = 2-6; the number of evaluated objects — from several score to several hundred.

#### Advantages and disadvantages

The method has some advantages. In the course of interviewing the decision-maker compares only a small number of multicriteria alternatives differing in estimates by just two criteria, and having the rest of the estimates that belong to reference situations. It is possible to identify errors and inconsistencies in the decision-maker's responses, and to analyse and correct them on the basis of information elicited from the decision-maker.

The procedure of building a decision rule involves checking the implementation of the axiom on a pairwise independence of criteria with respect to preferences by presenting analogous pairs of alternatives near the two reference situations. Given the criteria independence it is possible to construct a unified ordinal scale of alternatives' estimates. Given the criteria dependence, a unified ordinal scale is built only for a respective subset of the pairwise independent criteria. The remaining alternatives are compared only with respect to dominance.

Since the decision-maker compares, generally speaking, hypothetical alternatives, the information elicited from him does not guarantee the connectedness of the final quasiordering. Therefore, the system envisages an opportunity for determining the alternative ranks by different principles (identification of non-dominated alternatives, identification of non-dominating alternatives, by the maximum of dominated, and by the maximum of dominating alternatives).

The method is complex, and the complexity sharply increases as the number of criteria and scale divisions increase. Identification of decision-maker's preferences, the construction of the decision rule, and the processing of expert information are carried out by special procedures and algorithms. The use of the computer is highly desirable.

### Annex 2

### The CLASS method

The method of direct classification CLASS is helpful for solving problems where it is necessary to put multiattribute objects (decision alternatives) into different classes. These objects can typically be described in terms of their properties which are treated as criterion estimates characterizing objects. The method is based on expert or decision-maker's knowledge and involves the following principal stages:

- structuring a problem area and identifying object characteristics against criteria with ordinal or nominal scales;
- interviewing the expert or decision-maker to elicit knowledge and to construct a complete and consistent knowledge base containing decision classification rules.

Criteria  $K_i$  (i=1,...,n) are characterized by the main features (properties) of classified objects. In the CLASS method most often the estimate scale  $K_{ij}$  (j=1,...,m<sub>i</sub>) is an ordinal one with a small number of values. To represent the objects, it is convenient to use verbal descriptions of qualitative values and resort to quantitative scales only where these are natural. The order of values for the criterion scales depends on the purpose of problem solving: the order may reflect the quality of the object (ordering them from the best to the worst) or the degree to which the criterion values are characteristic of the respective class of decisions (ordering them from the most characteristic to the least characteristic one).

#### Classification

An arbitrary combination of criterion estimates (multidimensional vector)  $A = \{K_{1p}, K_{2p}, ..., K_{nr}\}$  is assigned to a hypothetical object. The objects for which similar decisions have been made are brought together in classes. The expert's task is to specify a set of possible decision classes for each object or, in other words, to formulate a complete decision classification rule. There are N decision classes in the general case. So for real problems it is clear that the expert would simply not be able to classify all objects because there are hundreds of thousands of real alternatives. The problems handled by CLASS involve objects characterized by ordinal criterion scales and ordered classes of decisions. Under these conditions, it is possible to construct a classification of relatively small vector estimates and, making use of information elicited from the expert, to classify the other vector estimates adequately.

Classification of objects follows the rational procedure of eliciting knowledge from the expert. The procedure consists of successive presentation of the most informative object (vector estimate) to the expert. The informativeness of the object is determined by a measure of the object proximity to a certain decision class that depends on the probability of assigning the object to this class. After the expert has assigned the vector estimate to some class, the remaining non-defined objects are again subjected to a calculation of the measure of informativeness, and the process is repeated. The suggested interrogation procedure of knowledge elicitation generates the object classification with a relatively small number of questions to the expert.

No interrogation procedure is immune to erroneous responses. There can be both random errors and errors associated with inconsistencies in the preferences of the expert. So a special procedure of searching for contradictory responses is included in CLASS. The task is to check the object classification for inconsistencies and to determine which objects should be presented to expert for repeat evaluation. It is necessary to select objects which would eliminate the inconsistency if they were transferred to another class. The information collected from the expert in this way may be efficiently arranged in the complete and consistent knowledge base.

#### Fields of application

The CLASS method is applied to a wide variety of problems such as the evaluation and programme planning of R&D projects, medical and technical diagnostics, the evaluation of designs of industrial facilities, and so on. For example, with respect to the programme-planning of R&D projects a decision-maker may consider the following alternatives: definitely include the project in the plan, leave the project for further discussion, or definitely do not include the project in the plan. R&D projects can be characterized by criteria such as the skills of the researcher, significance, prospectivity, expected efficiency, cost, etc. Reliable information from the decision-maker or expert may be elicited when the number of criteria n = 2-9; the number of estimates on ordinal scales, m = 2-4; and the number of decision classes N = 2-5.

#### Advantages and disadvantages

The method is based on an analysis of the capacity of the human information processing system and has the following distinguishing characteristics. It allows decisionmakers and experts to obtain information they are accustomed to use in their native language. No techniques for obtaining unreliable information on subjective probabilities, scores, weights, values of membership functions, etc., are used. As a consequence the reliability of the information elicited increases.

The method generates a complete decision rule which makes it possible to define the decision class for any object. In addition, the search for informative question reduces the interrogation of the expert by a factor of 10-30. The method helps to test information for consistency, and to find and eliminate contradictions. It also calls for special training on the part of the decision-maker and expert.

CLASS is the comprehensive technique. Construction of the expert knowledge base, determination of the most informative questions, search for and removal of contradictions in expert preferences can be done only through interaction with the computer, making use of special procedures and algorithms. But when the knowledge base has been built the decision classification rule may be presented in a compact form convenient for application.

## Bibliography

Boychenko, V.S.; Larichev, O.I. & Moshkovich, H.M. R&D programme planning techniques. Automatika i telemehanika, 1977, no.11, pp 95-105. (in Russian).

Chernukh, A.M.; Petrovsky, A.B. & Filippov, O.V. On programme planning in medicine. Vestnik Akademii Meditsinskikh Nauk SSSR (Newsletters of the Academy of Medical Sciences of the USSR), 1978, no. 9, pp. 8-14. (in Russian).

Chernukh, A.M.; Pogodajev, G.V. & Petrovsky, A.B. Forecasting and comprehensive planning of medical science in the USSR. In: Proceedings of the 2nd International symposium of CMEA member-countries on scientific and technological forecasting. Section 4. - Sofia, 1980, pp.20-25. (in Russian).

Emelyanov, S.V. & Larichev, O.I. A multi-criteria approach to applied R&D planning: the case of qualitative criteria. *Problems of Control and Information Theory*, 1976, no.5-6, pp.385-399.

Filippov, V.A.; Larichev, O.I.; Boychenko, V.S. & Albertyan, M.K. Problems of R&D advance planning methodology. In: *Long-range R&D planning* (ed. by Emelyanov, S.V.). Institute of Control Sciences. - Moscow, Nauka Publishers, 1974, pp. 3-21. (in Russian).

Gnedenko, L.S.; Larichev, O.I.; Moshkovich, H.M. & Furems, E.M. A procedure of quasiordering a set of multicriteria alternatives on the basis of reliable information on decision-maker preferences. *Automatika i telemehanika*, 1986, no.9, pp.104-113. (in Russian).

Handbook of forecasting (ed. by Bestuzhev-Lada, I.V.). - Moscow, Mysl' Publishers, 1982. (in Russian).

Humphreys, P.; Larichev, O.I.; Vari, A. & Vecsenyi, J. Comparative analysis of use of Decision Support Systems in R&D decisions. In: *Processes and Tools for Decision Support* (ed. by Sol, H.G.). North-Holland Publ. Co., 1983, pp.207-234.

Komkov, N.I. Programme-planning models. Moscow, Nauka Publishers, 1981. (in Russian).

Larichev, O.I. Organizational systems and methods of R&D strategic planning. - Avtomatika i telemehanika, 1974, no.5, pp.133-142. (in Russian).

Larichev, O.I. A method for evaluating R&D proposals in large research organizations. - IIASA, CP-82-75, 1982.

Larichev, O.I.; Boychenko, V.S.; Moshkovich, H.M. & Sheptalova L.P. *Hierarchical schemes method in programme planning of research*. Moscow, Institute for Systems Studies, 1978. (in Russian).

Larichev, O.; Boychenko, V.; Moshkovich, H. & Sheptalova, L. Modelling multiattribute information processing strategies in a binary decision task. Organizational Behavior and Human Performance, 1980, no.26 pp.278-291.

Larichev, O.I. & Moshkovich, H.M. Problems of direct classification in decision making. *Dokladi Akademii Nauk SSSR*, 1986, vol. 287, no. 6, pp. 657-670. (in Russian).

Larichev, O.I.; Moshkovich, H. M. & Furems, E.M. Decision Support System "CLASS". In: *New Directions in Research on Decision Making* (ed. by Brehmer, B.; Jungermann, H.; Lourens, P. & Sevon, G.). North-Holland Publ. Co., 1986, pp. 303-315.

Larichev, O.I.; Petrovsky, A.B. & Moshkovich, H.M. Methodological approaches to the assessment of research and development activities. In: *Planning and programming of science and technology development*. Proceedings of the International Symposium. Moscow, Institute for Systems Studies, 1978. (in Russian).

Larichev, O.I.; Zujev, Ju.A. & Gnedenko, L.S. ZAPROS (Closed Procedures by Reference Situations) method for solution of ill-structured multicriteria choice problems. Moscow, Institute for Systems Studies, 1979. (in Russian).

Moshkovich, H.M. Methodological problems of elaboration of an interdisciplinary fundamental research programme "Surface." In: *Methods of complex system study (Part 1)*. Proceedings of the 2nd Conference of Young Scientists. - Moscow, Institute for Systems Studies, 1980, pp.14-18. (in Russian).

Petrovsky, A.B. Organization of medicine development forecasting. In: *Theory and practice of forecasting in branches of the national economy*. Proceedings of the All-Union Scientific and Technological Conference. Moscow, 1978, pp.117-179. (in Russian)

Petrovsky, A.B. Forecasting scientific and technological progress in medicine. In: Forecasting and comprehensive planning of medical science in the USSR. (ed. by Chernukh, A.M.), USSR Academy of Medical Science. Moscow, Meditsina Publishers, 1984, pp.44-84. (in Russian).

Petrovsky, A.B.; Pogodajev, G.V. & Filippov, O.V. System of planning medical research. In: *Forecasting and comprehensive planning of medical science in the USSR*. (ed. by Chernukh, A.M.), USSR Academy of Medical Science. Moscow, Meditsina Publishers, 1984, pp 9-43 (in Russian).

Petrovsky, A.B.; Raushenbakh, G.V.; Pogodajev, G.V. & Kiselev, A.A. Modelling basic trends in medical science development as applied to forecasting. In: *Modelling of systems in biology and medicine*. Proceedings of the 2nd International Symposium. Prague, 1981, vol. 3, pp. 23-31.

Planning and programming of science and technology development. Proceedings of the International Symposium. Moscow, Institute for Systems Studies, 1987.

Samokhin, Ju.M. Programme planning methods. *Ekonomika i matematicheskije metody*, 1974, no.5, pp.994-1002. (in Russian).

Zujev, Ju.A.; Larichev, O.I.; Filippov, V.A. & Chujev, Ju.V. Problems of R&D alternatives evaluation. *Vestnik Akademii Nauk SSSR* (Newsletters of the USSR Academy of Sciences), 1979, no.8, pp.29-39. (in Russian).

ALBANIA: 'Ndermarria e perhapjes se librit', TIRANA. ANGOLA: Distribuidora Livros e Publicações, Caixa pos-

- tal 2848, Luanda ANTIGUA AND BARBUDA: National Commission of Antigua and Barbuda, c/o Ministry of Education,
- Church Street, ST JOHNS. Church Street, 31 Jones. AUSTRALIA: Educational Supplies Pty Ltd, P.O. Box 33, BROOKVALE 2100, N.S.W.; Dominie Pty, P.O. Box 33, BROOKVALE 2100, N.S.W. Sub-agents: Hunter Publications, 58A Gipps Street, Collingwood, Victoria 3066

AUSTRIA: Gerold & Co., Graben 31, A-1011 WIEN.

- BAHRAIN: United Schools International, P.O. Box 726, BAHRAIN: The Arabian Agencies & Distributing Co., Al-Mutanabi Street, P.O. Box 156, MANAMA.
- BANGLADESH: Karim International, G.P.O. Box 2141, 64/1 Monipuri Para, Tejgaon, Farmgate, DHAKA 1215.
   BARBADOS: University of the West Indies Bookshop, Cave Hill Campus, P.O. Box 64, BRIDGETOWN.
- BOTSWANA: Botswana Book Centre, P.O. Box 91, GABO-
- RONE.
- RADEL BRAZIL: Fundação Getúlio Vargas, Serviço del Publica-ções, Caixa postal 9.052-ZC-05, Praia de Botafago 188, RIO DE JANEIRO (RJ) 2000. BULGARIA: Hemus, Kantora Literatura, Boulevard
- Rousky 6, SOFIJA. CAMEROON: Commission nationale de la République du
- Cameroni pour l'UNESCO, B.P. 1600, YAOUNDÉ, Librairie des Éditions Clé, B.P. 1501, YAOUNDÉ, Librairie Hermès Memento, Face CHU Melen, B.P. 2537, YAOUNDÉ.
- CANADA: Renouf Publishing Company, 1294 Algoma Road, Оттаwa, Ont. K1B 3W8. Shops: 61 Sparks Street, Оттаwa, and 211 Yonge Street, Токонто. Sales office: 7575 Trans Canada Hwy, Ste 305, ST LAURENT, Que-httratice bec H4T 1V6
- CAPE VERDE: Instituto Caboverdiano do Livro, Caixa postal 158, PRAIA.
- CHINA: China National Publications Import and Export Corporation, P.O. Box 88, BEIJING.
- CYPRUS: 'MAM', Archbishop Makarios 3rd Avenue, P.O.
- CZECHOSLOVAKIA: SNTL, Spalena 51, 113-02 Ркана 1; Artia, V<sup>e</sup> Smeckach 30, Р.О. Вох 790, 111-27 Ркана 1. For Slovakia only: Alfa Verlag Publishers, Hurbanovo nam. 6, 893-31 Bratislava.
- DENMARK: Munksgaard Book and Subscription Service, P.O. Box 2148, DK-1016, København K.
- EGYPT: UNESCO Publications Centre, 1 Talat Harb Street, CAIRO.
- ETHIOPIA: Ethiopian National Agency for UNESCO,
- P.O. Box 2996, ADDIS ABABA. FINLAND: Akateeminen Kirjakauppa, Keskuskatu 1, SF-00101 HELSINKI 10; Suomalainen Kirjakauppa OY,
- Koivuvaarankuja 2, SF-01640 VANTAA 64. FRANCE: Librairie de l'UNESCO, 7, place de Fontenoy, 75700 PARIS. University bookshops.
- GERMANY: UNO-Verlag, Poppelsdorfer Allee 55, D-5300 BONN 1; S. Karger GmbH Verlag, Angerhof-strasse 9, Postfach 1724, D-8034 GERMERING/MUN-CHEN; LKG mbH, Abt. Internationaler Fachbuchversand, Leninstrasse 16, D-7010 LEIPZIG. For scientific maps only: Geo Center, Postfach 800830, D-7000 STUTTGART 80
- GHANA: Presbyterian Bookshop Depot Ltd, P.O. Box 195, Accra; Ghana Book Suppliers Ltd, P.O. Box 7869, Accra; The University Bookshop of Ghana, Accra;
- The University Bookshop of Capte Coast, The University Bookshop of Legon, P.O. Box 1, Legon.
   GREECE: Eleftheroudakis, Nikkis Street 4, ATHENS; H. Kauffmann, 28 rue du Stade, ATHENS; Greek National Commission for UNESCO, 3 Akadimias Street, ATHENS; John Mihalopoulos & Son S.A., 75 Hermou Street, P.O. Box 73, THESSALONIKI.
- GUINEA-BISSAU: Instituto Nacional do Livro e do Disco, Conselho Nacional da Cultura, Avenida Domingos Ramos n.º 10-A, B.P. 104, BISSAU.
- HONG KONG: Swindon Book Co., 13-15 Lock Road, KOWLOON
- HUNGARY: Kultura-Buchimport-Abt., Box 149, H-1389 BUDAPEST 62.
- ICELAND: Bokabud, Mals & Menningar, Laugavegi 18, 101 Reykiavik.
- INDIA: Orient Longman Ltd, Kamani Marg, Ballard Estate, BOMBAY 400038; 17 Chittaranjan Avenue, Cal-cutta 700013; 160 Anna Salai, Mount Road, Madras 600002; 80/1 Mahatma Gandhi Road, BANGALORE 560001; 5-9-41/1 Bashir Bagh, Нуреклавал 500001 (AP); 3-6-272 Himayatnagar, Нуреклавал 5000029 (AP); Oxford Book & Stationery Co., 17 Park Street, CALCUTTA 700016; Scindia House, New Delhi 110001;

UBS Publishers Distributors Ltd, 5 Ansari Road, P.O. Dis Publishers Distributors Ltd, 5 Ansari Road, P.O.
 Box 7015, New DELHI 110002; T.R. Publications Private Ltd, PMG Complex, II Floor, 57 South Usman Road, T. Nagar, MADRAS 600017.
 INDONESIA: Bhratara Publishers and Booksellers, 29 JI.

- Oto Iskandardinata 111, JAKARTA; Indira P.T., Jl. Dr Sam Ratulangi 37, JAKARTA PUSAT. IRAN, ISLAMIC REPUBLIC OF: Iranian National Com-
- nission for UNESCO, 1188 Enghalab Avenue, Rostam Give Building, P.O. Box 11365-4498, 13158 TEHRAN; Ashkan. 3 Co. Ltd, P.O. Box 15875-1787, 123 Dr
- Mofatch Avenue, 15717 TEHRAN. IRELAND: TDC Publishers, 12 North Frederick Street, DUBLIN 1; Educational Company of Ireland Ltd, P.O.
- Box 43A, Walkinstown, DUBLIN 12. ISRAEL: Steimatzky Ltd, 11 Hakishon Street, P.O. Box 1444, BNEIBRAK 51114.
- ITALY: LICOSA, via Benedetto Fortini, 120/10 (Ang. via Chiantigiana), 50125 Гикелze; via Bartolini 29, 20155 MILANO; FAO Bookshop, via della Terme di Caracalla, 00100 Roma; ILO Bookshop, Corso Unitá d'Italia 125, TORINO.
- JAMAICA: University of the West Indies Bookshop, Mona, KINGSTON 7.
- JAPAN: Eastern Book Service Inc., 37-3 Hongo 3-chome, Bunkyo-ku, Tokyo 113.
- JORDAN: Jordan Distribution Agency, P.O.B. 375, AMMAN.
- AMMAN.
   KENYA: Africa Book Services Ltd, Quran House, Mfan-gano Street, P.O. Box 45245, NAIROBI; Inter Africa Book Distributors Ltd, Kencom House, 1st Floor, Moi Avenue, P.O. Box 73580, NAIROBI.
   KOREA, REPUBLIC OF: Korean National Commission for UNESCO, P.O. Box Central 64, SEOUL.
   VILWALT: The Kenetic Reacher Co. Let D.O. Ben 2012.
- KUWAIT: The Kuwait Bookshop Co. Ltd, P.O. Box 2942-
- Safat, KUWAIT. LESOTHO: Mazenod Book Centre, P.O. 39, MAZENOD 160.
- LIBERIA: National Bookstore, Mechlin and Carey Streets,
- P.O. Box 590, MONROVIA; Cole & Yancy Bookshops Ltd, P.O. Box 286, MONROVIA.
- MALAWI: Malawi Book Service, Head Office, P.O. Box
- MALAWI: Malawi Book Service, Head Office, P.O. Box 30044, Chichiri, BLANTYRE 3.
  MALAYSIA: University of Malaya Co-operative Book-shop, P.O. Box 1127, 59700 KUALA LUMPUR.
  MALDIVES: Novelty Printers & Publishers, MALÉ; Asra-fee Bookshop, 1/49 Orchid Magu, MALÉ.
  MALTA: Sapienzas, 26 Republic Street, VALLETTA.
  MAURITIUS: Nalanda Co. Ltd, 30 Bourbon Street, PORT-Loure

- LOUIS MOZAMBIQUE: INLD, Avenida 24 de Julho, n.º 1927,
- r/c and 1921, 1. ° andar, MAPUTO. MYANMAR: Trade Corporation No. (9), 550-552 Mer-
- chant Street, RANGOON. NEPAL: Sajha Prakashan, Pulchowk, KATHMANDU.
- NETHERLANDS: Keesing Boeken B.V., Hogehilweg 13, Postbus 1118, 1001 CB Amsterdam. *Periodicals:* Faxon-Europe, Postbus 197, 1000 AD Amsterdam.
- NETHERLANDS ANTILLES: Van Dorp-Eddine N.V., P.O. Box 3001, WILLEMSTAD, Curaçao. NEW ZEALAND: G.P. Publications Ltd, P.O. Box 38900,
- The Esplanade, Petone, WELLINGTON. Retail, 25 Rutland Street (mail orders, 85 Beach Road, Private Bag C.P.O.), AUCKLAND; retail, Ward Street (mail orders, P.O. Box 857), HAMILTON; retail, 159 Hereford Street (mail orders, Private Bag), CHRISTCHURCH; retail, Princes Street (mail orders, Box 1104), DUNEDIN. NIGERIA: Obafemi Awolowo University, ILE-IFE; The
- University Bookshop of Ibadan, P.O. Box 286, IBADAN; The University Bookshop of Nsukka; The University Bookshop of Lagos; The Ahmadu Bello University
- Bookshop of Zaria. NORWAY: Akademika A/S, Universitetsbokhandel, P.O. Box 84, Blindern 0314, OSLO 3; Narvesen Info Center, P.O. Box 6125, Etterstad, N-0602 Oslo 6.
- PAKISTAN: Mirza Book Agency, 65 Shahrah Quaid-i-Azam, P.O. Box 729, LAHORE 5400; UNESCO Publications Centre, Regional Office for Book Development in Asia and the Pacific, P.O. Box 2034A, ISLAMABAD; Tayyab M.S. Commercial Services, P.O. Box 16006, A-2/3, Usman Ghani Road, Manzoor Colony, KARA-CHI 75460; Hamdard Education Society, Hamdard Centre, Att. Hakim Naimuddin Zubairi, Nazimabad, KARACHI 74600.
- PHILIPPINES: National Book Store Inc., 701 Rizal Avenue, MANILA. Sub-agent: International Book Center (Philippines), 5th Floor, Filipinas Life Building, Ayala Avenue, Makati, METRO MANILA.
- POLAND: ORPAN-Import, Palac Kultury, 00-901 WARS-ZAWA; Ars Polona-Ruch, Krakowskie Przedmiescie No. 7, 00-068 WARSZAWA.
- PORTUGAL: Dias & Andrade Ltda, Livraria Portugal, rua

do Carmo 70-74, 1200 LISBOA. Postal address: Apartado

- 2681, 1117 Lisboa Codex. ROMANIA: ARTEXIM Export-Import, Piata Scienteii, No. 1, P.O. Box 33-16, 70005 Bucureşti.
- SAINT VINCENT AND THE GRENADINES: Young Workers' Creative Organization, Blue Caribbean Buil-
- ding, 2nd Floor, Room 12, KINGSTOWN. SAUDI ARABIA: Dar Al-Watan for Publishing and Information, Olaya Main Street, Ibrahim Bin Sulaym Buil-ding, P.O. Box 3310, Riyadh. SEYCHELLES: National Bookshop, P.O. Box 48, Мане́.
- SINGAPORE: Chopmen Publishers, 865 Mountbatten Road, No. 05-28/29, Katong Shopping Centre, SINGA-PORE 1543. For periodicals: Righteous Enterprises, P.O.
- Box 562, Kallang Basin Post Office, SINGAPORE 9133. SOMALIA: Modern Book Shop and General, P.O. Box
- 951. MOGADISCIO.

- 951, MOGADISCIO.
  SRI LANKA: Lake House Bookshop, 100 Sir Chittampalam Gardiner Mawata, P.O. Box 244, СОLOMBO 2.
  SUDAN: Al-Bashir Bookshop, P.O. Box 1118, КНАRТОИМ.
  SURINAME: Suriname National Commission for UNESCO, P.O. Box 3017, PARAMARIBO.
  SWEDEN: A/B C. E. Fritzes Kungl. Hovbokhandel, Regeningsgatan 12, Box 16356, S-103 27 STOCKHOLM 16.
  Devide Margarean Williams A. D. Nachardanaka Periodicals: Wennergren-Williams AB, Nordenflychtsvägen 70, S-104 25 STOCKHOLM; Esselte Tidskriftscentralen, Gamla Brogatan 26, Box 62, S-101 20 STOCK-HOLM
- SWITZERLAND: Europa Verlag, Ramistrasse 5, CH-8024 ZURICH; United Nations Bookshop, Palais des Nations, CH-1211 GENÈVE 10; ADECO, Case postale 465, CH-1211 GENÈVE 19. Periodicals only: Naville S.A., 7, rue
- Lévrier, CH-1201 GENÈVE. THAILAND: Suksapan Panit, Mansion 9, Rajdamnern Avenue, BANGKOK; Nibondh & Co. Ltd, 40-42 Charoen Krung Road, Siyaeg Phaya Sri, P.O. Box 402, BANGKOK; Suksit Siam Company, 113–115 Fuang Nakhon Road, opp. Wat Rajbopith, BANGKOK 10200; ROEAP, P.O. Box 1425, BANGKOK. TRINIDAD AND TOBAGO: Trinidad and Tobago Natio-
- nal Commission for UNESCO, 8 Elizabeth Street, ST
- CLAIR. TURKEY: Haset Kitapevi A.S., Istiklål Caddesi No. 469, Posta Kutusu 219, Beyoglu, Istanbul. UGANDA: Uganda Bookshop, P.O. Box 7145, KAMPALA. USSR: Mezhdunarodnaja Kniga, Ul. Dimitrova 39, Marcine 112005 MOSKVA 113095.
- UNITED ARAB EMIRATES: Maktabat Al-Maktaba, P.O. Box 15408, Al-Ain, ABU DHABI. UNITED KINGDOM: HMSO Publications Centre, P.O.
- ITED KINGDOM: HMSO Publications Centre, P.O. Box 276, LONDON SW8 5DT (mail orders only, telephone orders: 071-873 9090; general inquiries: 071-873 0011). HMSO bookshops: 49 High Holborn, LONDON WC1V, tel. 071-873 0011 (counter service only); 71 Lothian Road, EDINBURGH EH3 9AZ, tel. 031-228 4181; 80 Chiches-ter Street, BELFAST BT1 4JY, tel. 0232-238451; 9-21 Princess Street, Albert Square, MANCHESTER M60 8AS, et 021 8247 201 258 Percel Sharet Bergenomenes, 81 Robertson McCarta Ltd, 17-18 Angel Gate, City Road, LONDON EC1V 2PT.
- UNITED REPUBLIC OF TANZANIA: Dar es Salaam
- UNITED REPUBLIC OF TANZANIA: Dat es Salaam Bookshop, P.O. Box 9030, Dar es Salaam
   UNITED STATES OF AMERICA: UNIPUB, 4611-F Assembly Drive, LANHAM, MD 20706-4391; United Nations Bookshop, New York, NY 10017.
   YUGOSLAVIA: Nolit, Terazije 13/VIII, 11000 BEOGRAD; Conscience Zalacha, Zanisrica, Na. 2, 61001 Luca.
- Cancarjeva Zalozba, Zopitarjeva No. 2, 61001 LJUBL-JANA; Mladost, Ilica 30/11, ZAGREB.
- ZAMBIA: National Educational Distribution Co. of Zambia Ltd, P.O. Box 2664, LUSAKA
- ZIMBABWE: Textbook Sales (Pvt) Ltd, 67 Union Avenue, HARARE.

A complete list of all the national distributors can be obtained on request from: The UNESCO Press, Sales Division, 7 place de Fontenoy, 75700 PARIS (France).

UNESCO BOOK COUPONS can be used to purchase all books and periodicals of an educational, scientific or cultural character. For full information, please write to: UNESCO Coupon Office, 7 place de Fontenoy, 75700 PARIS (France).

ISBN 92-3-102759-X

• :